

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Key Strategies Used to Mitigate Business Risk when Managing Offshore Outsourcing

Lauren Stewart Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Lauren K. Stewart

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Marilyn Simon, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. David Harris, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rollis Erickson, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Key Strategies Used to Mitigate Business Risk when Managing Offshore Outsourcing

by

Lauren K. Stewart

MBA, Webster University, 2011

BS, University of Maryland University College, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Ineffective risk management strategies can cause negative consequences to an organization's business processes and operational costs. When engaging in offshore outsourcing, Organizational leaders who lack effective risk management strategies encounter negative customer experiences, interrupted business processes, wasteful resources, and increased operational costs. Grounded in the resource-based view theory, the purpose of the qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies used to mitigate business risk when managing offshore outsourcing. Four outsourcing professionals in the information technology and consulting sectors who successfully managed risks during offshore outsourcing participated in the study. Data sources were semistructured interviews and a review of publicly available outsourcing best practices information on company websites. Five themes identified through thematic analysis included prequalification of vendors, effective communication at all levels, solid contractual arrangement, quality of vendor experience, and stakeholder involvement. A key recommendation for organizational leaders is to communicate across all organizational levels and use quality assessment tools to monitor the offshore vendor's effectiveness. The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide access to a larger talent pool and reduce the expenses associated with bringing on new employees, making companies more profitable.

Key Strategies Used to Mitigate Business Risk when Managing Offshore Outsourcing

by

Lauren K. Stewart

MBA, Webster University, 2011
BS, University of Maryland University College, 1998

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

First and foremost, I give all thanks and honor to God, my Lord and Savior, for his grace, mercy and favor in completing my doctoral study. To my father (in memory) and beloved mother, who always taught me that wealth comes in the form of knowledge. My children, April and Antwon, for their unconditional love and encouragement even when I faced life's challenges. To my sisters, brother, brother-in-law, nieces and nephews, and other family members and friends who supported me throughout my journey. Finally, to my sister-friend, Cynthia, who inspired me throughout the entire doctoral process.

Acknowledgment

I express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to Dr. Marilyn Simon for advising and guiding me through the doctoral process and for sharing her profound wisdom throughout the years. It is an honor to be a Simon Scholar. To my second committee member, Dr. David Harris, I am grateful for the valuable feedback and guidance he provided me. To my University Research Reviewer, Dr. Rollis Erickson, I am thankful for and appreciate his advisement on aligning my study to meet University requirements. I embody the knowledge and experience I have gained as a doctoral student and look forward to the many opportunities ahead of me.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	6
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	8
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	8
	Limitations	9
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	10
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 10
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	History of Offshore Outsourcing	. 12
	Risks of Engaging in Outsourcing	. 14
	Risk Management Strategies	. 18
	Business Continuity	. 20

Collaboration
Transactional Costs
Resource Acquisition 24
Disruptive Outsourcing
Resource-Based View Theory
Competitive Advantage
Operational Risks
Financial Risks 32
Human Capital Risks
Information Technology Risks
Legal and Regulatory Risks
Alternative Conceptual Theories
Resource-Based View Theory
Transaction Cost Economics Theory
Core Competences Theory
Knowledge-Based View Theory
Relational View Theory
Evolutionary Economics Theory
Agency Theory
Neoclassical Economic Theory
Social Exchange Theory
ansition A'

Section 2: The Project	44
Purpose Statement	44
Role of the Researcher	44
Participants	45
Research Method and Design	47
Research Method	47
Research Design	48
Population and Sampling	50
Ethical Research	52
Data Collection Instruments	54
Data Collection Technique	55
Data Organization Technique	56
Data Analysis	57
Reliability and Validity	60
Reliability	61
Validity	61
Transition and Summary	64
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	65
Introduction	65
Presentation of the Findings	66
Applications to Professional Practice	78
Implications for Social Change	82

Recommendations for Action	83
Recommendations for Further Research	86
Reflections	86
Conclusion	88
References	90
Appendix A: Invitation to Participate in Research Study	119
Appendix B: Interview Questions	120
Appendix C: Interview Protocols	121

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders use outsourcing to improve their company's performance, focus on core competencies, and increase profitability (Farmer, 2017). However, outsourcing comes with risks such as cost overruns and failure to meet quality requirements (Rahul & Rao, 2015). The successful implementation of outsourcing depends on selecting outsourcing vendors, managing risks, and maintaining effective client-vendor relationships (Gylling et al., 2015). The problem this study addressed was strategies companies use to mitigate risks associated with offshore outsourcing.

Section 1 includes the background of the problem on the implication of not employing risk strategies when transferring critical business operations offshore. Also included are the problem statement, purpose statement, and nature of the study. I compared how the professional and academic literature related to the problem statement, presented the concepts that illustrate the basis of knowledge and grounds of the study, and discussed the impact the research may have on the global society.

Background of the Problem

The formal identification of outsourcing as a business strategy came into effect in 1989 (Doval, 2016). In the mid 20th century, companies decided to contract relevant business processes to other companies that could provide specialized services, such as accounts payable and receivable, human resources, and data processing (Solli-Sæther & Gottschalk, 2015). Eventually, the list of outsourced services performed by independent companies included information technology services. The Philippines, India, Mexico, and China are at the top of the list of countries that provide highly skilled workers at lower

rates than can be found in the United States. These countries adopted outsourcing as an added value to their economies, thereby increasing the education, employment, income, and skill levels of many citizens (Willcocks et al., 2017).

Effective risk management practices not developed in organizations that use offshore outsourcing typically increase operational costs (Sundararajan et al., 2014). Organizations that do not use effective risk management practices encounter negative customer experiences, interrupted business processes, and often wasteful resources (Modarress & Ansari, 2011). Wasteful resources put companies at a competitive disadvantage and threaten continued success in a global economy (Javalgi et al., 2013).

Organizations outsource jobs in the manufacturing and information technology services industries to increase efficiency, maintain competitive advantage, and reduce or control costs (Liu & Wang, 2014). India, China, Mexico, and the Philippines are the primary countries receiving outsourced services from the United States (Gurung & Prater, 2017). Potential risks of outsourcing include exposing organizations to increased costs, breach of data security, and a loss of institutional knowledge. In turn, these risks can result in loss of revenue and loss of competitive advantage (Gylling et al., 2015).

Problem and Purpose

In 2013, over 14 million jobs were outsourced offshore to China, India, and the Philippines, significantly reducing the U.S. workforce (Khan & Bashar, 2016). In 2014, the United States outsourced 2.6 million more jobs (Peralta, 2014). Outsourcing comes with risks and, when managed ineffectively, can lead to value leakage, which adversely effects a company's financial performance, operating model integrity, and reputation

(Virtaluoto et al., 2016). Approximately 48% of companies have terminated outsourcing contracts because of concerns with service quality and security (Deloitte, 2014). The general business problem was that effective risk management strategies are needed to protect physical assets, human resources, and income of an organization when companies outsource production centers and IT support services to offshore third-party service providers (Sreedevi & Tanwar, 2018). The specific business problem was that some technology and telecommunications leaders have limited strategies to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries.

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore strategies that technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. The target population was leaders (including midlevel and executive-level managers) from U.S.-based technology and telecommunications companies that use offshore outsourcing in foreign countries. The implications for positive social change include the potential to: (a) improve the overall standard of life for customers, (b) address corporate social responsibility, and (c) strengthen the relationship among individuals working in our global society. Leaders in these industries may use this study's findings to increase revenue and profitability to enable them to make a positive social impact.

Population and Sampling

The population for this study was four (4) outsourcing professionals, with a minimum of five (5) years of offshore outsourcing and risk management experience, which manage and oversee outsourcing practices in large U.S. corporations. I used a

purposive sampling technique to select individual participants who was most likely to contribute relevant data for the study. I obtained a list of potential participants from LinkedIn and the potential participants received solicited requests through the LinkedIn system. The participants were interviewed using a semistructured interview process allowing them to share their experience of outsourcing services to offshore vendors. I also reviewed my notes and publicly available information from company websites relating to offshore outsourcing best practices.

Nature of the Study

The method I used in this study was the qualitative method. Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods are three forms of inquiry offered to researchers (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). A qualitative research method enables an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon by evaluating multiple evidence sources (Lewis, 2015). Qualitative researchers explore phenomena to build upon or revise existing theories using open-ended questions (Laing, 2012). A quantitative study would not provide the opportunity to probe deeply into understanding the risks of offshore resourcing. Quantitative and mixed methodologies are better suited to examine specific relationships among stated variables (Maxwell, 2013). Researchers used the qualitative method to increase knowledge and understanding of a condition instead of specifying results using a larger population, as is done in quantitative research design (Brannen, 2017).

I chose a multicase study design to reveal the strategies technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. An assessment of the other qualitative study designs deemed them

inappropriate for this study. Narrative research studies the lives of the participants involved (Campbell, 2014). Narrative design was not appropriate for this study because the purpose was not to focus on human perceptions, motivations, or behavior through an interpretation of people's experiences. Phenomenological researchers study participants' human experiences (Campbell, 2014). This design was not appropriate because the study of participants' human encounters was not the focus of this study. The ethnographic research design involves the study of a cultural group (Yin, 2015). This design was not appropriate because the research did not focus on the cultural behavior or experiences of its participants.

The intent of using a qualitative, multicase study was to obtain a thick description of data using different sources of data (Yin, 2018). An example of such data is information retrieved from documented offshore outsourcing risk management material, such as quality assurance documentation. Case studies can be single or multiple cases. A single case study does not compare various conditions across different organizations (Yin, 2018). Collecting data from various sources enabled me to gain multiple interpretations of the subject matter and alleviate the issue of construct validity that can be present in case studies (Yin, 2015).

Research Question

What strategies do technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries?
- 2. What strategies did you use to assess your current internal resources before committing to outsourcing your IT services?
- 3. How do the strategies you use enable competitive advantage?
- 4. What strategies do you use to recognize potential outsourcing risks?
- 5. How does your company address potential risks with foreign outsourcing vendors?
- 6. How does your company's business objectives align with minimizing risk when outsourcing to foreign countries?
- 7. What challenges have you experienced in outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 8. What risks have you experienced when competing for outsourcing services in foreign countries?
- 9. What strategies have you found effective in mitigating challenges from outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 10. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies implemented to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to foreign countries?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the resource-based view theory.

Barney (1986) developed the resource-based view theory to explain how organizations

could gain a competitive advantage by acquiring strategic resources. Organizations use offshore outsourcing as a strategy to achieve organizational goals and create maximum value for stakeholders (Davis & Simpson, 2017). For organizations to achieve their goals, leaders can identify and assess their current internal resources to determine the strength and weaknesses of the resources as compared to their competitors. The assessment can provide leaders in the organization with tools to implement strategies to make better use of the organization's resources to sustain competitive advantage (Lin & Wu, 2014).

When organizations experience challenges with making outsourcing decisions, they will predominately focus their attention on the costs of operations. For example, when an organization has to decide to outsource its information systems, the organization may choose to keep certain portions of the function in-house if it provides it to be more cost-effective (Wuyts et al., 2015). On the other hand, if it is not cost-effective to keep the information systems process in-house, the organization may decide to transfer these processes to an outsourcing vendor. Outsourcing vendors have the advantage of providing certain services at a more cost-effective rate because multiple organizations acquire similar services through economies of scale (Wuyts et al., 2015).

The resource-based theory defines an organization as a collection of valuable resources, such as physical, human, and organizational assets. The individuality and importance of resources measure as a competitive advantage. The organization maintains a competitive advantage because of its authenticity (Sausen & Tomczak, 2015).

Alternatively, organizations must manage their transaction costs by controlling the expenditure and not exceeding return on investment.

Operational Definitions

Business processes: Business processes include the analysis and design of workflow and practices within and between organizations (Gonsalves, 2002).

Competitive advantage: The above industry average manifested exploitation of market opportunities and neutralization of competitive threats (Sigalas, 2015).

Core competency: Core competency is a core operation within a company that allows the company to sustain a competitive advantage over other competitors (Click & Duening, 2005).

Global outsourcing: Service and production operations managed in global markets and the purchase of products assembled in international countries define global outsourcing (Bouchet et al., 2015).

Offshore outsourcing: Offshore outsourcing is a movement of service-sector jobs from developed economies to offshore locations that are cheaper (Peslak, 2012).

Outsourcing: Outsourcing is the transference of certain core activities to another vendor (Manning, et al., 2011).

Risk management: Risk management is a process that identifies potential loss an organization experiences and the most appropriate technique selected for treating such exposures (Elahi, 2013).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

An assumption is a factor that influences the study, where there is no supporting data (Karlsen, 2014). The fundamental assumption was that study participants will

answer interview questions honestly and have an accurate recall of facts and information that may not be current. The assumption of truthful answers regarding individual experiences is reasonable since participation in the study will be voluntary, and participant identities will be confidential.

Limitations

Limitations are obstacles in revealing the reliability and validity of the study that is out of the control of the researcher (Price & Murnan, 2013). One limitation is the perceptions of the respondents during their interview. Another is self-reporting, which means the participants can skew the study's data based on their preference to share only certain information. The data collected for the study depended on the respondent's memory, which could serve as a disadvantage when collecting data. Another limitation is the generalization of the study. The small sample size projected for the study reduces the generalization to a broader population. Transferability or external validity will be possible by obtaining thick descriptions of the data and creating variation in the selection of participants (Dyrvig et al., 2014).

Delimitations

Delimitation is a limitation imposed by the researcher on the study (Karlsen, 2014). These limitations can either describe the research boundaries or include decisions the researcher explicitly made during the research. Examples of delimitations are the choice of the conceptual framework, the methodology of the study, and the selection of participants. The first delimitation is selecting participants from only one business sector. The first delimitation could narrow the scope of the study. The second delimitation is

making the questions during the interview too broad, making it impossible for the respondents to identify the critical nature of the interview or too difficult to understand or answer the questions.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Determining the suitable risk management strategies to use when engaging in offshore outsourcing can assist leaders in technology and telecommunication organizations to effectively make decisions regarding outsourcing. This study addressed concerns leaders in technology and telecommunication organizations have when deciding to use offshore outsourcing and strategies. Changes in global conditions prompt leaders to continuously reevaluate their decisions. Gaining information from leaders in technology and telecommunication organizations that have been successful in offshore outsourcing can better enable leaders considering offshore outsourcing to employ suitable and valuable strategies to reduce risks. These leaders may be interested in the risk management strategies that have been successful in the offshore outsourcing process.

Business leaders who use findings from this study may experience the benefits and allure of offshore outsourcing and be able to balance the risks and uncertainties with the potential for labor arbitrage (Stringfellow et al., 2008).

Implications for Social Change

The result of the study may effect positive social change because the information derived from this study may help to reduce risk when implementing offshore outsourcing practices. Leaders could gain new insights regarding how offshore outsourcing decisions

influence financial gains and losses, business process improvements, or an organization's competitive advantage. The findings could also provide accurate decision-making by leadership to assist the organization with enhancing efficiencies and expanding the business. Study findings might enable business owners to reduce business losses and realize significant cost savings by lessening ineffective practices. Besides, companies with lowered risks in outsourcing could proffer from higher profitability, which increases their financial ability to address social issues such as poverty within their communities.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this qualitative exploratory case study, I explored strategies leaders in technology and telecommunications use to reduce the risks of outsourcing services outside the United States. The literature review includes research information that is related to the problem statement, purpose statement, research question, and conceptual framework. The literature review includes reasons that risk management is effective in offshore outsourcing, such as gaining competitive advantage, improving the overall customer experience, and enriching operating inefficiencies.

The approach I used for the analysis of the information in the literature included a comprehensive and attentive examination of multiples sources of various styles, including electronic media, scholarly journal articles, and books. Relevant sources found using the research database search engines on Walden University's library tool included ProQuest, Business Source Complete, Google Scholar, ABI/INFORM Complete, SAGE Premier, Thoreau, and ScienceDirect. The literature review consisted of relative keyword searches that included risk management, outsourcing, offshore outsourcing, business

processes, contracts, international outsourcing, offshore mitigation, cultural intelligence, and risk. Extensive literature existed on offshore outsourcing and risk management.

The information gained helped develop the understanding of shared perceptions and preconceptions in risk management strategies used to mitigate business risks. The review involved an exploration of thirteen main topics: (a) history of offshore outsourcing, (b) risks of engaging in outsourcing, (c) risk management strategies, (d) business continuity, (e) transactional costs, (f) resource acquisition, (g) disruptive outsourcing, (h) resource-based view theory, (i) competitive advantage, (j) operational risks, (k) financial risks; (l) human capital risks, (m) information technology risks, (n) legal and regulatory risks, and (o) alternative conceptual theories. For research purposes, offshore outsourcing includes an organization's decision to hire third-party vendors to manage particular business activities.

The search produced approximately 400 articles throughout nine months. I identified 240 articles relevant to the study. The literature reviewed encompassed information that was relatively new and within the last five years. Out of the 240 articles relevant to the study, 204 articles had publication dates during or after 2016, and 36 had publication dates before 2016. Additionally, the review contained three book references. The review includes 85% of peer-reviewed articles published within five years of anticipated graduation.

History of Offshore Outsourcing

Beginning in the 1980s, multi-national corporations turned to offshore outsourcing as an alternative to high costs associated with maintaining a labor force in

developed countries (Lacity et al., 2015). However, 50% of offshore contracts failed to meet expectations and generate financial benefits to the organization (Moe et al., 2014). Carmel and Tjia (2006) noted a 2004 European study found problems existed in 80% of offshore ventures. As the management of the supply chain is critically important to the organization's ongoing success and viability, making an incorrect sourcing decision can reduce an organization's profitability and competitive advantage (Ding et al., 2005).

Services and products in some industries can provide more cost-effective rates through offshore outsourcing than providing domestically (Willcocks et al., 2017). The movement of the responsibility from the United States, where wages and costs to do business are higher, can create competitive advantages for the organizations. An organization's leadership team may expand into offshore outsourcing to assist with diversifying risk (Petkov & Petkova, 2017). An organization's decision to venture into offshore outsourcing impacts labor rates, regulation, and competition (Willcocks et al., 2017).

The decision to move certain operations of an organization to an offshore company includes outsourcing functions that are repeatable and nonproprietary, have a high labor rate, and are not a part of the organization's core competencies (Robinson & Kalakota, 2005). Offshoring is a function of the increased globalization of manufacturing and services and is the movement of value chain components to a low-cost location (Lacity et al., 2015). Organizational functionalities that can be easily acquired and replaced are more susceptible to offshore outsourcing (van Hassel et al., 2021). An increased number of organizations, such as Verizon and General Electric, employ

offshore outsourcing companies to manage multiple services (Siems, 2005). Outsourcing also assists with reducing costs, increasing capacity, improving quality, and increasing organizational profitability (Grahovac et al., 2015).

Risks of Engaging in Outsourcing

Global outsourcing has become more prevalent since the 1990s, and the risks involved in long-term outsourcing are significant (Sharma & Bhat, 2011). Researchers have dedicated their attention to the assumed business risks involved with outsourcing globally, including an increased threat of vendors violating the company's confidential information (Brandl, 2019). The violation of confidential information begins when an organization provides information about business processes and provides access to internal resources to assist the outsourcing vendor with completing tasks hired to do (Williams & Durst, 2019). An organization may also be widely exposed to additional risks when leaders decide to make a substantial investment in the transition of essential in-house functions.

If the outsourcing vendors breach the organization's confidentiality, this act may compromise its intellectual property (Bendoly et al., 2012). Many researchers have deduced that the organization must ensure it negotiates a solid contract between it and the outsourcing vendor; this can improve the relationship between the parties and provides recourse in the event any threatening activity occurs (Lacity & Willcocks, 2008). Although some organizations may experience competitive advantages over their competitors when engaging in outsourcing, long-term outsourcing relationships have a greater chance of experiencing risks. The success of an outsourcing relationship depends

on the successful sharing of organizational resources (i.e., information, human resources) while prioritizing any relevant risks (Roh & Jang, 2018).

Organizations often make a substantial investment in outsourcing with the notion that profits will increase as a result. The initial investment to outsource may include increased costs of shifting responsibility to the outsourcing vendor and reduced costs for business processes remaining in-house (Tang & Zimmerman, 2013). Additional cost-impacting activities could also include ramping up the outsourcing vendor's information technology capabilities to maintain competitiveness with other outsourcing vendors (Jain & Khurana, 2013).

Patrucco et al. (2016) noted that when global outsourcing vendors are engaged, the organization must take careful steps to analyze the outsourcing vendor's business environment, modify their business model to address inconsistencies between the two companies, and manage the relocation of business processes. These steps are necessary to integrate the outsourcing vendor as their environment may be foreign compared to the organization's environment. Often, outsourcing may fail due to various factors with the outsourcing vendor, and the organization may need to reintegrate the outsourced processes back into their environment (Fratocchi et al., 2014). If this happens, internal organizational conflicts may arise because the organization cannot assume responsibility (Collm & Schedler, 2014). As such, the organization will need to solicit other potential vendors and negotiate new contracts.

There are limited decision paradigms used by business managers to project risks and quantify the benefits of outsourcing, which contributes to the failure of some

outsourcing initiatives (Talluri et al., 2013). Organizations are not able to project the success of the outsourcing project too far in advance. Transaction cost theory (TCT) plays a vital role in providing a basis by which organizations can perform sourcing analyses to better plan for and potentially avoid the long-term risk associated with outsourcing (Hodosi & Rusu, 2019).

When organizations are incapable of closely overseeing the outsourcing vendor's activities, the risk level increase as decisions could be made by the outsourcing vendor, who could potentially put the organization at risk (Patrucco et al., 2016). An organization can also put itself at risk by assigning nonpareil assets, which means that the assets are not irremediable or irretrievable if the outsourcing agreement was unsuccessful (Mousavi & Gitinavard, 2019).

When organizations decide to engage outsourcing vendors, additional risks such as shortfall of essential proficiencies and revealing of unstable expenditures if the outsourcing agreement is unsuccessful (Fratocchi et al., 2014.) An unsuccessful outsourcing agreement can have an extremely negative consequence on an organization, which could ultimately lead to additional expenses and loss of profits. Fratocchi et al. (2014) offered strategies to forecast the relevancy of outsourcing to either single or multiple vendors. These strategies involved the costs of the potential outsourcing vendor becoming complacent due to being chosen; alternatively, the negotiated incentives can negate the complacent behavior. Costs savings may be at the forefront of an organization leader's decision to outsource. However, the primary focus on minimizing costs being the

only reason to engage in outsourcing results in the TCT being criticized (Hodosi & Rusu, 2019).

According to Fratocchi et al., some of the potential reasons that outsourcing initiatives fail include:

- 1. Engaging in an outsourcing agreement that is not beneficial to the organization.
- 2. Mismanaging the outsourcing agreement.
- 3. Minimizing inherent personnel dysfunctions.
- 4. Outsourcing functions that should remain in-house.
- 5. Failing to predict hidden costs that could impact the organization's revenue.
- 6. Selecting an inadequate/inexperienced vendor.
- 7. Failing to include details in the outsourcing agreement for default.

The emphasis on cost savings could also potentially impact the organization's ability to protect its information systems, including handling and processing confidential information (Patrucco et al., 2016). Outsourcing models have failed to incorporate complete explanations of outsourcing relationships and governance processes. Potential threats are imminent if the basis of the relationship is not clearly defined and managed. With differing outsourcing agreements, the outsourcing models should adapt to the variations to be successful (Teo & Bhattacherjee, 2014). The organizations can achieve success by structuring a catalog of potential scenarios based on existing outsourcing studies. The following are potential risks factors that can occur when an organization engages in outsourcing (Beasley et al., 2009):

- 1. *Market risks* impact the organization's market share and revenue because of the outsourcing vendor's lack of effective client care or the release of confidential data or information.
- 2. Operational risks are associated with implementing ineffective strategies when outsourcing, which potentially could cause the failure of the outsourcing relationship.

 Selecting the wrong outsourcing vendor, contractual inefficiencies, and ineffective implementation of the outsourcing processes are examples of actions that can lead to operational risks.
- 3. *Financial risks* involve the lack of proper assessment of all potential costs associated with the outsourcing project.
- 4. *Human capital risks* involve using employee resources that are not skilled in the area they are assigned, lack of adequate resources, and other human resources-related activities.
- 5. *Information technology risks* are related to lack of data security, the unapproved release of confidential organizational data and information, inadequate technology foundation of the outsourcing vendor, intellectual property related matters.
 - 6. Legal and regulatory risks are related to potential legal and regulatory issues.

Organizations should effectively evaluate all potential risks and work to minimize the risks (Wu et al., 2013) that may impact an organization in the long-term.

Risk Management Strategies

Employing effective risk management strategies is essential to offshore outsourcing success (König & Spinler, 2016). Many organizations operate in a global

environment, and these organizations possess a vital understanding of the prospective issues experienced in a global environment. Organizations conducting business in a global environment can experience operational risk, compliance risk, market risk, and credit risk (Hansen et al., 2017). Knowledge of the existence and origination of risk with an organization can help develop strategies to manage the risk.

An important factor in selecting an offshore vendor is the understanding of the functionality of the economic market (Liu & Wang, 2014). U.S. companies must ensure that the currency of the offshore country is stable enough to take advantage of tax incentives. Economic growth in selected countries will help determine the availability and cost of labor, as well as the availability of adequate technology (Dreher, 2006).

Political instability can determine whether an organization is susceptible to the risk of loss of business. Global political instability can affect the ability to engage in foreign services, copyright and trademark infringement, and breach of information (Marber, 2005). Political instability can dissuade an organization's decision to do business with various countries. For example, Turkey has experienced political instability that prevents U.S. organizations from engaging in business with the country (Liu & Wang, 2014). Risk analysis is conducted as a regular business practice to determine whether there is the potential for new risks and develop risk strategy changes. As a standard process, organizations should analyze the risk through identification,

quantification, simulation of the impact that could assist with implementing change in the risk management strategies (Startienė & Remeikienė, 2007).

Outsourcing risks are well known. These risks include loss of information, rising costs, and deteriorating service levels (Gunasekaran et al., 2015). Minimizing outsourcing risks can lead to lower costs, economies of scale, access to specialized resources, and new business ventures (Ho et al., 2015). Risk categories are strategic, operational, or composite (Wiengarten et al., 2016). The risks can also include factors such as managerial, technical, and security. Managerial risks compromise outsourced software projects if effective management of the outsourcing relationship or clear communication between the companies is not present (Sundararajan et al., 2014). When this happens, the company suffers tremendously with expensive reworks, scheduling delays, cost overruns. If the issues are not corrected, the project will likely be at risk. Another outsourcing risk relating to the software is maintaining data security, and this risk is very high (Moe et al., 2014).

Business Continuity

Adapting to change is a vital component of the collaborative efforts involved in outsourcing. During the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, many companies experienced a shift in the paradigm of how they conducted their business in the outsourcing atmosphere and worked to transition their employees to a remote work environment to minimize any interruption in services (Gamlin et al., 2020). Gamlin et al. offered fundamental mechanisms that companies worldwide could follow for a seamless transition to the endusers. The outsourcing provider and customer are encouraged to work together to make

viable decisions of how the business will continue without interruption and risk of contractual obligations.

One of the critical tasks during this time is communicating the services that are vital to both the service provider and the customer. The communication may involve prioritizing essential versus non-essential tasks based on the orientation of the outsourcing agreement. The outsourcing provider and customer should discuss changes in logistics that may impose potential security risks. Once both parties have identified essential services or potential risks, both parties should work to modify the existing agreement to document the intermittent changes that may take place (Gamlin et al., 2020). The modification is crucial because it minimizes the risk of either party defaulting on the original agreement.

To embrace continuity of services, customers and outsourcing providers should also engage in the following activities:

Collaboration

Both the outsourcing providers and customers should work towards actionable items that involve the collaboration of both parties. Review of contractual obligations and risk mitigation clauses will ensure continuity of services. Common clauses found in contracts that will protect both parties are force majeure, right to cure, and termination for convenience. Despite the contract clauses that will protect both parties, entering into an alternative agreement to provide essential services is an option and can be beneficial to both parties. For example, many outsourcing companies that provide IT services were considered essential during the COVID-19 pandemic. Critical services needed by the

customer should be clearly defined so that the outsourcing provider can determine if the requirements are attainable.

Change order is a key document involved when parties are looking to change the scope of contractual obligations is the change order. The outsourcing provider must ensure that the change order captures any deviation from the original performance work statement. Elements of a change order can include security, deliverables, and performance requirements. For example, if an outsourcing provider's timeline will be affected by an extenuating circumstance, they would need to negotiate a change of timeline or waiver of the obligation to minimize the possible risk of default of contract. The change order: (a) must be discussed and agreed to by both parties, and (b) any changes captured in writing to bind both parties under the contract effectively. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, parties entered into contractual agreements had the opportunity to implement change orders that would be required to accommodate the alternative remote work arrangements.

Internal operations are important components of a customer's international organization should contribute to any changes to originally agreed-upon terms and conditions of the contract. These components include, but are not limited to, risk management, legal, business operations, information technology, and security. The service provider's internal organizations should also have a key input in any changes to the scope of the originally negotiated contract.

Untimely delays are inevitable when two parties agree contractually. As such, both parties must be amenable to any changes in the scope of work that will affect the

outcome and timeline of the overall contract. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, service providers equipped their employees with the systems to work remotely due to the limitation of regular business resources. There were stay-at-home orders implemented globally, which had a direct impact on the bandwidth availability of the communications network, as well as the reorganization of some of the business functions. Alternatively, customers may have been concerned whether the service provider would have the ability to manage the deliverables as agreed upon in the contract and any security risks or financial implications involved with the service provider's personnel working remotely. The parties would engage in ongoing communications and negotiations to ensure that there would be no significant impact on either business.

Continual monitoring of the situation, on-going communication, and adaptability to change are key areas that both parties should focus on during change.

External impacts, such as compliance with governmental regulations, the effect on the parties' insurance coverage, and risk mitigation to the fullest extent possible, should also be considered by both parties. External impacts could have a flow-down effect on either party. Both parties must understand the risk and impact that external circumstances can have on business continuity.

Transactional Costs

The Transaction Cost Theory, developed by Oliver Williamson implies that organizations seek to minimize costs internally and externally (Rindfleisch, 2020). Transaction costs include exchange frequency, uncertainty, and level of transaction specificity of the stated investment (Christopher et al., 2006). An organization will

investigate all costs incurred to determine whether the costs are viable. Offshore outsourcing is a method used for reducing cost structures, improving efficiencies, and gaining a competitive advantage (Denning, 2013). The transaction cost theory is useful when an organization is implementing make versus buy decisions.

Comparably, the implementation of suitable outsourcing strategies, such as contracting with several vendors and engaging in contracts for a shorter term, may increase transaction costs (Hodosi & Rusu, 2019). Also, suitable outsourcing strategies can encourage outsourcing vendors to: (a) endorse competition among organizations, and (b) provide lower outsourcing costs (Patil & Wongsurawat, 2015). Organizational leaders must strive to attain a suitable balance among risk management, strategic implementation, and expenses to outsource business processes successfully. Engaging with multiple outsourcing vendors may diminish outsourcing risks for the organization. However, the relationship between the outsourcing vendor and organization is more important (Sundararajan et al., 2014).

Resource Acquisition

Tashman and Rivera (2016) described the resource dependence theory (RDT) as a major resource management theory. Resource acquisition, a significant component of the RDT, emphasizes that organizations heavily rely on resources external to their current environment. Organizations may increase their vulnerability to risks because they may become dependent on the outsourcing vendors for the required resources, which ultimately transfers power (Alonso et al., 2018). The transference of power depends on

the transferred processes, their relationships with the outsourcing vendors, and the mutual agreement of organizations involved (Tashman & Rivera, 2016).

Resource acquisition involves instances where an organizational leader has to make a decision that may significantly impact the outsourcing performance as well as the financial revenue of the organization (Bhalla & Terjesen, 2013). The disproportionate dissemination of information to individuals included in the outsourcing activity (i.e., the outsourcing vendors) provides additional risks because the disproportionate nature can result in a lack of accountability and untimely solutions when problems occur. As such, the outsourcing vendor may not be willing to share the risk not included in the decision-making process (Hodosi & Rusu, 2019).

According to Alonso et al. (2018), the inherent difference between the resource-based theory and the transaction cost theory is that the transaction cost theory focuses primarily on reducing costs instead of the importance of the activity. In contrast, there are two correlated constraints to the transaction cost theory: (1) focus on the minimization of cost for the organization results in value optimization for the organization only; and (2) engaging in a solid agreement that does not include process improvement requirements (Hodosi & Rusu, 2019). Alternatively, Babin & Saunderson (2016) recommended a structure grounded on transactional value theory, which emphasizes value optimization

for both the organization and outsourced vendor to achieve profitability from the relationship collectively.

Disruptive Outsourcing

Deloitte conducted a global outsourcing survey in 2020 (Deloitte, 2020), questioning over 500 business executives. The result of the survey outlined that the predominant use of outsourcing is not to reduce costs and improve operational performance. Outsourcing is more beneficial in assisting companies with achieving competitive advantage through agility, accelerated change management, and growth; this is termed "disruptive outsourcing." Disruptive outsourcing integrates technologies such as cloud solutions and robotic process automation (Deloitte, 2020).

During the survey, one of the outcomes identified was that disruptive outsourcing is adopted by many organizations through the initiation of discussions, conducting pilots, and fully implementing disruptive technologies. Over 70% of the executives surveyed reported that they prefer innovation from their service providers instead of improved back-office operations. As IT functions are the most outsourced functions in an organization, the adoption of cloud solutions is popular, according to 93% of the surveyed organizations (Deloitte, 2020).

Another outcome identified as a result of the survey was that accomplishing competitive advantage by implementing disruptive outsourcing solutions can prove to be a challenging task. When implementing cloud integration solutions, the top obstacles faced are data migration, security requirements, and application optimization (Deloitte, 2020). For organizations to overcome certain obstacles, the organizations are careful to

address cyber risks resulting from outsourcing by entering into contracts that impose security protocols and administer evaluations. As a result, 61% of the executives advised that their initiatives resulted in a higher rate of passing third-party audits.

Resource-Based View Theory

Projected costs of business operations are most important to an organization when they must make outsourcing decisions. When outsourcing processes such as customer support, organizations could determine that certain functions should remain in-house to be more cost-effective (Alvarez & Barney, 2017). Instead, if maintaining the business operation in-house is not cost-effective, an organization may outsource the process to an outside vendor. Third-party vendors who provide offshore outsourcing services may provide operational services at a lower cost through the economies of scale (Hitt, et al., 2016).

The resource-based theory defines an organization as profitable collective resources that include human, physical, and organizational assets, which places these resources in the competitive advantage realm due to the individuality and significance the asset holds. An organization can maintain its tactical advantage due to sustainability and profitability (Alvarez & Barney, 2017). Transaction costs related to the resource should be planned and not surpass the organization's return on investment. Organizational resources may include information resources that are valuable systems needed to expedite purchasing new data and process improvement methods.

Nickerson et al. (2017) suggested that the knowledge-based theory is a better alternative to transaction cost theory. The knowledge-based theory originated from the

resource-based theory, which defined organizations as dependent on lucrative resources.

Organizations rely on the efficient distribution of resources to attain economic productivity and competitive advantage.

There are benefits and advantages associated with off-shoring knowledge-based jobs. Kumar et al. (2010) conducted a case study of the benefits and risks of transferring knowledge-based positions to offshore outsourcing vendors. As a result, creating a decision model highlighting the significance of deciding to engage in offshore outsourcing includes access to foreign workers, tax incentives, and government subsidies. Kumar et al. (2010) determined that the knowledge-based theory was the most efficient way to create knowledge, engage in applications, and manage outsourcing services/products.

Competitive Advantage

Most organization's long-term goal is to achieve sustained competitive advantage. In recent studies, the supply chain teams have been responsible for maintaining a competitive advantage. The organizational leaders give attention to the supply chain as the unit for analysis instead of the entire firm; this is the business unit that is more competitive with supply chain units of other organizations (Hines et al., 2017). The report further suggested that joint ventures or alliances with other organizations result in competitive advantage.

To create a competitive advantage, an organization needs to manage its value-added activities (Gylling et al., 2015). Customers will pay for value, so focusing on the activities attributed to value can be more important than the costs associated with the value. To gain a competitive advantage, organizations must focus on lowering cost, increasing innovation, and implementing different strategies, including considering offshore outsourcing (Lahiri, 2016).

The resource-based theory is a key strategic management theory that explains how an organization's competitive advantage relates to its organizational success. The perspective of competitive advantage is resource-based as well as industrial. Raduan et al. (2009) explained that examining competitive advantage from the resource-based value perspective can be used as a conceptually accepted guideline for organizations to adjust their business operations to realign their competitive advantage position and focus on their internal organizational capabilities (Pla-Barber et al., 2018).

According to Pablos (2006), the realistic improvement of a global organization relies on its skill to identify knowledge and communication of the understanding between its international offices. Global competency is essential for determining the primary advantage of increasing the organization's yield. In global organizations such as pharmaceutical, automobile manufacturers, electronics, and computers, there is a confident association among the distinctive organizational characteristics and the overall performance of the organization. Rose et al., (2010) explained the organizational view of the resource-based theory is vital. The resource-based theory is a conceptual guideline for effectuating the competitive advantage position and increases excellence in business organizations.

Overall, there is a significant association between an organization's competitive advantage and performance (Berry, 2011). Amplified performance theories show the correlation between performance and competitive advantage. Such research offers a body of knowledge by expounding upon the resource-based theory about organizational traits and the attainment of competitive advantage and increased firm performance (Davis & Simpson, 2017).

Competitive advantage is the design that describes and assesses the approach related to the performance of an organization. To achieve this, an investigation focusing on the value chain of a company regarding the strategic activities of the firm and its cost and role in differentiation (Davis & Simpson, 2017). Organizations outsource for economic, strategic, and technological considerations, with the key reason being the predicted reduction of costs (Festus & Adenike, 2011). Organizations focus on costs related to human resources and information technology, resulting in lower variable costs once there is a reduction in these costs (Festus & Adenike). The purpose of outsourcing, according to Casale (2001), is the diminution and domination of costs through the manipulation of the economies of scale involved in the process and the capacity provided by the outsourcing vendors.

Cost-effectiveness is often the primary reason organizations decide to engage in outsourcing. Organizations assess outsourcing initiatives as a possibility to cut operational costs and to reduce resources. Investing in operational cost savings in other business processes can result in additional savings. Some researchers have concluded that engaging in outsourcing can be beneficial if the organization wishes to reduce costs. (Shaviya, 2013).

Outsourcing vendors can typically have the capacity to capitalize on better technologies and innovation (Shaviya, 2013), thereby enabling improved control of the organizational functions, increasing knowledge of the organization's business processes, and providing more innovative products and services. Lacity and Willcocks (2008) indicate that some business processes should remain in-house to ensure present and future competitive advantage while releasing other processes to outsourcing vendors.

Operational Risks

Yang et al. (2017) defines operational risk as the loss resulting from insufficient or unsuccessful methods, procedures, and human practices. Operational risks include legal risks and financial risks. The causes of operational risks can be: (a) inadequate or flawed processes, (b) the individuals assigned to perform the tasks make errors, (c) systems are broken, or (d) an external event that interrupts the activity. Organizations strive for limited to no operational risk; however, operational risks are inherent and unavoidable.

A solid client-vendor relationship in offshore outsourcing is an essential element of reducing operational risks (Qi & Chau, 2015). Also, the contractual relationship is important to the success of offshore outsourcing. The contract sets the expectations that support the relationship between the client and the vendor, and the contract's administration and intricacy are major success factors. Additional crucial factors in the client-vendor relationship include commitment, trust, level of communication, and the sharing of knowledge.

Interpersonal and organizational cultural differences are also vital factors for outsourcing relationship success (Rai et al., 2009). Rai et al. found that continuous problem solving, undeniable trust, and ongoing information exchange fosters the outsourcing relationship success. Gorla and Lau (2010) suggested that when clients and vendors have compatible organizational cultures, it propagates success. Gorla and Lau further suggested that clients select outsourcing vendors based on their alignment with

the company's core competencies by implementing appropriate governance mechanisms that promote positive and negative reinforcement (Vorontsova & Rusu, 2014).

Financial Risks

Financial risks occur when organizations do not meet their expectations of the cost-effectiveness offshore outsourcing will bring (Xiaowei, 2016). The most significant risk with offshore outsourcing has nothing to do with outsourcing. Instead, the risk involves expectations the internal organization has about how much the savings from offshore will be. Executives in many organizations assume that the differing costs of labor in differing markets will provide equivalent cost savings (Riikka & Virpi, 2017). Often, these executives do not take into consideration the hidden costs and different operating models that are involved in making such comparisons. Cost savings of 15-25% can be realized during the first year, with savings of 35-40% by the third year based on the modification of operations to sync with the applicable model (Xaiowei, 2016).

Increased transactional cost is one of the causes of financial risks in offshore outsourcing. Organizations can reduce production costs but increase transactional costs because they will need to manage the vendors more closely (Denning, 2013). Increased transactional costs would include the cost of implementing processes to manage the vendor more closely. The lack of recognition of the hidden costs associated with offshore outsourcing also contributes to financial risks (Joshi & Mudigonda, 2008).

According to Babin and Saunderson (2016), although the resource-based theory emphasizes competitive advantage and profitability, it also focuses on the expenses and value of the organization. Focusing on the beneficial aspects of the outsourcing venture

can provide an opportunity to develop and promote the value of the outsourced organizational resources. Implementing an all-inclusive approach that includes transaction costs and research-based methods would be more valuable for the organization as these methods complement one another (Berndtsson, 2013).

Bardhan et al. (2006) studied how information technology effected the decision to outsource manufacturing production. The study investigated if effective manufacturing strategies encouraged the decision to outsource production and if the decision to outsource effected manufacturing performance. The study presumes that information technology and manufacturing strategies link directly to the decision to outsource (Karlberg, 2015). U.S. manufacturing companies attained cross-sectional data to develop a theoretical framework. After data analysis, the determination is that manufacturing facilities investing heavily in information technology resources would be more inclined to outsource manufacturing production (Cho & Lee, 2014). Also, investing larger capital in information technology and making the decision to outsourcing manufacturing production would result in lower production costs and better product quality (Bardhan et al., 2006). The study did not identify the underlying motivation for deciding to outsource manufacturing production.

Minimizing costs, increasing revenue and productivity, and improving overall financial performance are major factors organizations consider when deciding to implement strategic outsourcing (Gallet et al., 2015). Studies have shown that when measuring the effects of outsourcing relating to organizational effectiveness, economic, strategic, and quality assurance measures must be taken into consideration (Karlberg,

2015). Also, organizations must evaluate the outsourced business processes, what the organization plans to achieve by outsourcing these processes, and the correlation between the strategy used in the outsourcing decision-making process and the current performance of the organization (Marchewka & Oruganti, 2013).

Human Capital Risks

Inadequate skilled employee resources are also risky in offshore outsourcing. When measuring offshore outsourcing performance, the employee attrition rate is measured (Nicholson & Aman, 2012). Foreign employees may look for jobs with various companies within a short period of being hired because there is a high demand for offshore outsourcing employees. Many vendors are faced with a high turnover rate as their employees have the opportunity to make higher wages with U.S. companies (Sengupta & Dev, 2013).

Employee attrition has a significant impact on a company's bottom line revenue. Employee attrition drives up the cost for resource allocation, training, and an increase in revenue (Sharda & Chatterjee, 2011). Companies considering offshore outsourcing must maintain skilled and knowledgeable employees to experience long-term financial gain (Musteen, 2016). Also, the costs and services to retain employees (i.e., wages, pensions, and healthcare) can have a huge financial impact on an organization's net revenue. As a result, the organization may entertain outsourcing to avoid the negative impact (Yao et al., 2010).

Information Technology Risks

Information technology risks encompass data security breaches, virus intrusion, the technology infrastructure that is constantly changing, the release of the client's confidential data, etc. (Liu & Wang, 2014). Eliminating or reducing investments can generate income when companies sell their assets or transfer services to outsourcing vendors. Technology services can be more efficient when using a vendor's technology instead of the company's technology (Pouder et al., 2011). With the transition of technology services to the outsourcing vendor, companies can focus more on their core competencies (Crixan et al., 2011). Core competencies are activities that companies make a substantial contribution to gain competitive advantage (Pouder et al.).

For companies to determine if outsourcing is a vital option when evaluating their corporate positioning, studies showed that outsourcing reduced costs by 41% and drove up innovation by 35% (Yao et al., 2010). Outsourcing assisted companies, such as Cisco Systems and Dell, in increasing their firm's innovation process by outsourcing product design to specialized companies (Niranjan & Rao, 2011). However, these companies continued to have control over the final assembly, test, and customization of the product to customer requirements. An analysis completed on Gartner Incorporated confirms that businesses spent 3.1% more on IT outsourcing services globally in 2010 than in 2009 (Mudambi & Venzin, 2011). Although the recession caused the unavailability of resources (material and labor), outsourcing of IT services has increased globally (Niranjan & Rao).

System failures or malicious computer intrusions are considered information technology and security risks. Financial organizations should be concerned about information security risks when outsourcing financial services to offshore vendors, which is a major concern of most consumers (Koku, 2015). Organizational leaders must consider the risk of information security breaches and lack of quality assurance when deciding to outsource services (Jain & Khurana, 2013). Offshore vendors in India experience challenges with entering into outsourcing agreements with organizations in the United States since these organizations are concerned that these offshore vendors are incapable of effectively protecting data (Ojha, 2014).

In 2015, approximately 85% of the reported cyber data breaches exposed customer's personal and health information, including credit card, social security, and address information, which resulted in over \$400 billion in annual losses (Trang, 2017). Although financial organizations implemented strategies to upgrade their cybersecurity protection, their customer's information remained exposed due to outsourcing activities to third-party companies that did not provide adequate cybersecurity protection (Gonzalez et al., 2013). The primary threat that financial organizations experience is the breach of their customer's personal and confidential information. Data privacy breaches and the lack of trust in certain third-party vendors were concerns to business leaders. However, technological advances that enabled cloud computing have heightened awareness of information security risks (Koku, 2015).

Through technological innovations, cloud computing has increased awareness of information security risks but provides multiple advantages as long as risk management

strategies are implemented adequately (Weng & Hung, 2014). The crucial problem with engaging in cloud computing is that there is a lack of data security regulations. Zhang and Gu (2013) reported that organizational leaders launched cloud computing but did not engage in proper security measures to protect confidential information, such as customers' personal and confidential information and intellectual property. These security breaches will result in loss of revenue and irreparable harm to the organization's reputation. Mitigation of proper risk management strategies is critical when organizations decide to engage in cloud computing. The organizations should not rely on offshore vendors to administer risk management strategies independently if they want to minimize their operational risks (Trang, 2017).

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Legal and regulatory risks can be high when it comes to offshore outsourcing. Many countries have laws that override U.S. legal and regulatory laws; this can adversely affect the vendor's intellectual property (Zutshi et al., 2012). Protection of an organization's intellectual property is critical to the success of the organization as well as protect the business assets. Offshore outsourcing can expose intellectual property by providing access to U.S. confidential data, patents, or copyrights by foreign countries (Maheed, 2011). Intellectual property managed by an offshore vendor will typically fall under foreign guidelines and laws that may not consider U.S. laws and regulations (Peslak, 2012).

Researchers studied the contract theory to explore contractual and guiding principles, but on the contrary has also explored the addition of human perception when

analyzing the differing views of outsourcing arrangements (Wiengarten et al., 2016). The client-outsourcing vendor relationship, and the contractual agreement, are vital components to consider when evaluating whether a breach of contract exists between the parties (Jin Kim et al., 2013). As such, the organization should ensure that a mutual understanding of the outsourcing relationship is a part of the contractual arrangement (Vorontsova & Rusu, 2014). Outsourcing agreements involve legal, operational, and regulatory implications if the organizational leaders do not regularly monitor the agreed-upon processes (Hirschheim et al., 2013).

Alternative Conceptual Theories

Several theories supporting offshore outsourcing both support and contradict one another. This section will provide an explanatory and exploratory synopsis of the theories studied in the outsourcing process.

Resource-Based View Theory

The basis of the resource-based view theory is that resources and capabilities can be significantly different among companies, and these differences can be steady (Mishra, 2017). If the resources and capabilities of a company are diverse and organized effectively, this can result in a competitive advantage for the company. The resource-based view theory in outsourcing generates from a scheme that a company that doesn't have valuable and organized resources and capabilities should use outside resources to overcome any challenges it may face (Kutzikos & Mentzas, 2011). During the initial phase of the outsourcing process, the resource-based view theory would be useful to help

define the framework required to make key organizational decisions and to prepare for the selection of a viable outsourcing provider.

Transaction Cost Economics Theory

The most widely used theory when it comes to outsourcing is the transaction cost economics (TCE) theory. Researchers believed that TCE theory delivers the tools that would allow company leaders to make vital decisions about outsourcing and further prepare leaders for the outsourcing process. The TCE theory encompasses governance features that are important when considering the financial impact of outsourcing. The TCE theory also provides information on the complexity of the potential contract administration activities. Even though it has been exercised extensively in outsourcing applications, the TCE has several indulgencies. Lacity and Willcocks (2008) criticized the TCE theory in that it is said to rely heavily on the analysis of a single transaction without taking into consideration the multiple components that can be involved when entering into outsourcing arrangements. The TCE theory is more suitable for a static transaction and not the dynamic nature of an ever-changing business environment.

Core Competences Theory

The resource-based view theory established the core competencies theory, which defines the collective knowledge of a company and the coordination of various production proficiencies and integrated technologies (Prahalad & Hamel, 1990).

Researchers widely recognized the relevance of the core competencies theory in outsourcing. The view expands upon and tests various outsourcing decision-making charters that contend core business process activities and shall remain internal to a

company. Feeney et al. (2005) explained that the concepts of knowledge and communication also made the theory applicable to the management of customeroutsourcing provider relationships and evaluation. An outsourcing provider's competencies are critical to a successful outsourcing arrangement (Levina & Rosess, 2003).

Knowledge-Based View Theory

The knowledge-based view theory explains how parties collaborate to produce goods and provide services (Nasiopoulos, 2014). The knowledge-based view theory characterizes two ways of knowledge sharing among parties. They are knowledge generation and knowledge application. The knowledge-based view theory is critical to the positive outcome of an outsourcing arrangement and further explains the process of managing a successful outsourcing arrangement (Sakas & Kutsikos, 2014).

Relational View Theory

Wiengarten et al. (2016) explained how using the relational view theory is relevant when companies seek information on achieving and maintaining a competitive advantage by fostering effective outsourcing relationships. The theory is useful in assisting the leaders of a company with selecting compatible outsourcing partners and managing a successful relationship with minimal risks. It is also useful when exploring changes to the scope of the parties' contract during all phases of the outsourcing arrangement.

Evolutionary Economics Theory

The evolutionary economics theory was originally cited during the 19th century and was revitalized in a research publication by Nelson and Winter in 1982. According to Anderson (1994), the theory initially developed by Darwinism included several assumptions:

- The company and outsourcing provider would not have effective communication,
 which would result in domestic outsourcing only, instead of globally.
- The decision-making process of both parties is typically obliged to policies, standards, and organizations.
- Parties are, to a certain degree, able to emulate the practices of other parties to effectuate self-discovery and creative innovation.
- The practice of emulation and innovation can be illustrated by significant degrees of cumulativeness and stability; however, it can be occasionally interrupted.
- The collaboration of the parties is typically unsteady but may be successful based on the parties involved, company structure, and external factors.

As a result of the assumptions above, the change occurring in the process can be irreversible, resulting in high applicability in the outsourcing process.

Agency Theory

Originally, the agency theory focused on the relationship among internal stakeholders (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). However, it ultimately expanded to include the relationship between independent parties such as the company and outsourcing provider.

Mishra (2017) noted that applying this theory to an outsourcing arrangement would foster

mechanisms to help monitor the arrangement and create a bond between the parties effectively mitigate any risk that may arise.

Neoclassical Economic Theory

The primary characteristics of the neoclassical economic theory are (Hodgson, 1994):

- Assumption that the parties will display rational behavior to achieve a positive outcome.
- Equilibrium between parties is a primary focus.
- Absence of adequate information is problematic.

Researchers significantly criticize the neoclassical theory for the lack of a full explanation of contemporary business processes (Solli-Sæther & Gottschalk, 2015).

Social Exchange Theory

The social exchange theory describes interpersonal relationships by postulating the economic cost-benefit analysis as a prerequisite for social engagement and exchange (Solli-Sæther & Gottschalk, 2015). The theory presumes that the interchanging of resources is a basic form of human interaction. Social exchange is a continual reciprocated activity because one's actions are dependent upon the rewarding actions of other parties. The social exchange theory has been used in conjunction with the TCE theory to identify the need to modify behavior during change processes.

Transition

Section 1 includes the history of offshore outsourcing and the underlying research question addressed for this study. The conceptual framework discusses current and

historical literature relating to transaction cost and resource-based theories. Transaction cost theory and resource-based theory supports the discussion of effective risk management practices involved when engaging in offshore outsourcing. Section 1 also discussed the contributions this study will make to the business environment and implications for social change.

Section 2 details the approach of the study. The purpose of this qualitative multicase study is to determine the strategies technology and telecommunications leaders use to reduce the risks of outsourcing services outside the United States. The target population is leaders (including mid level and executive level managers) from U.S.-based technology and telecommunications companies that use offshore outsourcing in foreign countries. The eligibility requirement for purposively selected participants is that the individuals possess knowledge of the phenomena and can identify the risk management strategies that are consistently used or least used by technology and telecommunications companies. Following ethical requirements, I interviewed participants to understand best practices and strategies for reducing risks when participating in offshore outsourcing. Multiple data sources include semistructured interviews and publicly available information on company websites relating to outsourcing best practices.

Section 3 includes the discoveries of the exploration of the study. This section consists of the applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further study. Also included in this section is personal reflections, summary, and research conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes a restatement of the purpose of the study, a discussion of the researcher's role and responsibilities, and outlines the participants of the study. In addition, Section 2 also contains a discussion of the methods used to justify and apply (a) the research and design, (b) the population and sampling, (c) data collection instruments, (d) ethical research compliance, and (e) techniques used to measure and ensure reliability and validity of the research findings in support of the research question.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore strategies that technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. The target population was leaders (including mid level and executive level managers) from U.S.-based technology and telecommunications companies that use offshore outsourcing in foreign countries. The implications for positive social change include the potential to (a) improve the overall standard of life for customers, (b) address corporate social responsibility, and (c) strengthen the relationship among individuals working in our global society. Leaders in these industries might use this study's findings to increase revenue and profitability to enable them to make a positive social impact.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in a qualitative study is to gain entry to the targeted group, facilitate the data collection, code the data, maintain strict adherence to ethical guidelines, interpret the data, draw conclusions, and effectively defend the results (Giles

& Yates, 2014). I will fulfill my role and interview participants, code the data, identify themes and patterns, and analyze the data. I plan to achieve interview quality through detailed interview planning and preparation, accurate note-taking, member checking, document analysis, and maintaining research records and interview transcriptions.

I abided by ethical research rules for human participants (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). The ethical researcher is held accountable for minimizing risks to participants and safeguarding all participants' security (Mertens & Ginsberg, 2009). I performed ethically to mitigate the potential risk to participants. To do so, I obtained informed consent, ensured the information was handled confidentially, and respected the participants' rights to privacy (Lincoln, 2009). I abided by the ethical guidelines and principles required in the Belmont Report (2009) and Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). Ethical guidelines in the Belmont report include (a) respecting personal autonomy and diminished autonomy, (b) following the principles of beneficence and justice, (c) gaining informed consent, (d) assessing risks and benefits, and (e) selecting subjects fairly (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014). I did not expose the potential participants to risks and required consent from all participants before participating in the study.

Participants

The research participants were leaders in offshore telecommunication with a minimum of five years of experience directly relating to offshore outsourcing and risk management. The eligibility requirements were individuals who possessed knowledge of the phenomena and were able to identify the risk management strategies used by

technology and telecommunications companies. Participation was strictly voluntary and assured of their confidentiality.

The study included participants in leadership positions from U.S.-based corporations that use offshore outsourcing. To gain access to the participants, I solicited the required approval from Walden University's IRB. Walden University's approval number for this study is <u>09-25-20-0367528</u> and it expires on <u>October 7, 2022</u>. Upon approval, I identified the participants that met the prescribed criteria. Participants were also identified through my professional contacts within the technology industry, by contacting professional organizations that manage outsourcing projects, and HR sourcing organizations that hire professionals for outsourcing projects. I also identified individuals on LinkedIn by searching within my network using the keyword "outsourcing." I contacted each participant through email with a follow-up phone call. The initial email was to introduce my position in the study and defined the study's purpose. Every contact with the participant complied with the ethical guidelines described in the Belmont Report and IRB requirements.

I conducted interviews through video conferencing and by telephone. I scheduled interviews upon receipt of participants' commitment to participate and successful access to the participants was achieved. I recorded and transcribed the interviews. Video-conference interviews allowed me to collect data by inquiring directly with the participants and gaining the visual perception of facial expressions and body language, which was vital in this qualitative research study (Bernard & Ryan, 2010). Data saturation will determine the sample size and content validity. I achieved data saturation

once the responses were identical for each question after interviewing three participants.

As recommended by Francis et al. (2010), I conducted one more interviews to confirm that no new information came from the data.

The method for establishing working relationships with participants was through fostering positive relationships and building trust by speaking directly with the participants and explaining the purpose of the study, as recommended by Hawamdeh and Raigangar (2014). The advantage of providing participants with purposeful information about the research study allowed participants to learn about the study's value about the interview process, open-ended questions, audio recording, and the value of shared experiences (Mealer & Jones, 2014).

Research Method and Design

Primary components that the researcher should consider when establishing the research problem and related questions are the method and design of the research (Maxwell, 2013). Three types of research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Hyett et al., 2014). Based on the purpose of this study, a qualitative method, with a case study design, was appropriate since the intent was the exploration and investigation of the phenomenon of expert observations (Yin, 2015). The phenomenon I investigated was effective risk management strategies.

Research Method

A qualitative research method is to explore strategies to mitigate risk when companies engage in offshore outsourcing. A quantitative study was not appropriate to explore complex research problems with unknown variables (Yap & Webber, 2015).

Quantitative research is needed to examine specific relationships among stated variables and test hypotheses (Maxwell, 2013). A quantitative approach was not in alignment with the goals of this study. The use of the qualitative case study design increases the chances of accurately describing the lived experiences and perceptions of participants relative to the focal point of interest (Yazan, 2015).

I considered the mixed-methods approach. A mixed-methods design is a more comprehensive method of design is mixed methods which include both quantitative and qualitative elements of research (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Mixed-methods research can be more complex and time consuming, which are primary factors for deciding against this method. I did not choose a mixed method because there will be no quantitative component to the study. Qualitative methods alone enabled me to address the problem and answer the research questions.

Research Design

I used a qualitative multiple case design. A case study researcher examines a diverse experience that does not have sufficient preliminary research to support testing a theory (Boeije, 2010). Case studies can be either single case studies or multiple case studies. A single case study involves one selected organization (Yin, 2015). A multiple case study provides the researcher with the ability to explore the differences among multiple cases to understand the similar experiences that the cases have in common. The case study analysis approach is suitable to examine the participants' experience and provide answers to how and why elements of research questions. The interview questions consisted of semistructured openended questions to add depth to the qualitative study by

exploring the approaches used to diminish risks on successful offshore outsourcing. The study will also include company reports (such as SEC filings) that outline the results of the offshore outsourcing initiatives.

I considered the major qualitative research designs of (a) case studies, (b) phenomenology, (c) ethnography, (d) narrative, and (e) grounded theory. A phenomenological design involves examining the commonality of the participants' experience or phenomenon (Ormston et al., 2014). I rejected a phenomenological design since the study did not include studying perceptions of the lived human experiences of participants during a major event but will, instead, focus on verifiable factors effecting outsourcing. An ethnographic study is selected as it explores the behavior of a group of individuals that share the same culture (Merriam, 2010), which is not the intent of this study. The grounded theory design would provide for the development of theories for a particular phenomenon but not necessarily yield a descriptive analysis of a particular phenomenon (Venkatesh et al., 2013).

Typically, when the primary purpose of the study is to explore, explain, or describe a specific context relating to a chosen participant pool, a case study is used. Case studies can be single or multiple cases (Merriam, 2010; Yin, 2018). The multiple case study is the most appropriate design to explore specific strategies that build upon existing theories (Easton, 2011). Multiple-case studies follow a replication logic and afford better prospects to gain detailed understanding of experiences than a single case study thus enabling a comparison among varying conditions of different organizations (Yin, 2018).

Population and Sampling

The population for this study is outsourcing professionals, risk managers, and outsourcing consultants that manage and oversee outsourcing practices in large U.S. corporations that outsource services, such as customer care, IT services, and security services offshore. I obtained contact information for prospective participants through Salesforce Data.com, Connect, and Hoovers. Hoovers, a subsidiary of Dun and Bradstreet, provides researched business information for national and international companies.

The study involved a purposive sampling technique (Uprichard, 2013). Purposive sampling is a nonprobability method of sampling because researchers intentionally selected participants to fit the purpose of the study (Benoot et al., 2016; Emerson, 2015). The purposive sampling technique allowed me to select individual participants who was most likely to contribute relevant data for the study.

The sample included seven participants, which was considered sufficient in a case study (Gentles et al., 2015). Data saturation determined the sample size and content validity. The participants' experiences and viewpoints are a critical tool in supporting data saturation. Once the interviews established a foundation to support the research study based on the existing theory, and no new material or ideas ascertained through additional questions, data saturation was achieved. A two-step process is acceptable for obtaining data saturation (Francis et al., 2010). To apply this method, a researcher selects a minimum sample size recommended from the literature. Upon achieving data saturation, the second step involved two more interviews. If no new ideas emerged, then

the interviewing ceased at that time. When required, I repeated step 2 to meet data saturation.

The approach of this qualitative study was to interview an appropriate number of individuals to determine whether the feedback received was consistent among all participants. The eligibility criteria for the participants were a minimum of 10 years of corporate experience with a minimum of 5 years of direct experience relating to offshore outsourcing and risk management. Saturation is where new or pertinent information in the data collection process is no longer required for the newly constructed theory (Fusch & Ness, 2015). This is the point when the researcher determines that no more data needs to be collected. When the theory appears to be strong with no disparity, saturation is achieved. The reason that participants needed a minimum of five years of experience was that these individuals were in a position to provide the information relative to the use of offshore outsourcing.

I sent a brief description of the study and participation request to 25 outsourcing and risk management professionals from U.S. companies that engage in offshore outsourcing. I obtained a list of potential participants from Linked In. Potential participants received solicited requests through the Linked In application. Additional data also included information retrieved from documented offshore outsourcing risk management journals and memoranda.

Before taking the survey, participants acknowledged consent via email, of their willingness to participate in the study. The survey included questions to confirm the participant's position within their company and the years of experience, and the years the

company has been engaging in outsourcing activities. I randomly selected seven participants, using the purposive sampling technique, from the pool of participants engaging in the next phase of the study to identify the risk management strategies that are consistently used or least used by the identified companies. Subject matter experts in the area of offshore outsourcing will provide knowledge of effective risk management strategies. Collecting data from multiple sources enables a researcher to gain various interpretations of the subject matter as well as alleviate the issue of construct validity, which can be present in case studies (Yin, 2015). I used semistructured interviews, archived documents (such as outsourcing agreements, performance work statements, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings), and information collected from the organization's website for this qualitative case study. The semistructured interview is appropriate for a means of data collection in a qualitative case study (Yin, 2015). I used document analysis to assess and construe information received from the organization's websites and archived documents recommended by O'Reilly and Parker (2013) to confirm data saturation.

Ethical Research

As noted in the Belmont Report, ethics in research is crucial to protect the participant's rights and to eliminate risks (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2014). I followed Walden University's IRB process when conducting this qualitative exploratory case study research. This process included gaining IRB approval prior to conducting the research and prior to collecting information from the participants.

The participants will be protected through compliance with human rights laws, and the research data will be held as confidential at all times. Informed consent was obtained from each participant to ensure that the participants understood the confidentiality of the survey responses. Participants in this study were over the age of 18.

The targeted participants received a written request (See Appendix A) to participate with detailed information regarding the purpose of the research, the researcher's role, the participant's rights, roles, and responsibilities, confidentiality protection for the participants, and the researcher's contact information for questions. A copy of the informed consent and written consent is included as an attachment to this study.

Participation in the survey was solely voluntary and did not include any incentives to influence involvement in the research. The participants received information that explained the benefit of the research was to provide additional knowledge of risk management practices beneficial to outsourcing organizations. The participants were asked to sign a consent form to acknowledge that they understood the purpose of the research, the researcher's role, and their rights, roles and responsibilities. Upon receipt of the participant's consent, I provided the survey to the participants for completion.

The information gained from the participants will be held in strict confidentiality at all times. The data was coded accordingly so as not to identify the participant in any way. The data will be stored in locked file cabinets or in databases that are secure, such as external hard drives or thumb drives. In the event any participant elects to withdraw their participation during or after the research, the record relating to that participant will

be deleted permanently. Upon completion of the research, records will remain stored for five (5) years, after which time the information will be permanently destroyed through shredding of paper copies and deleting of all soft copies.

Data Collection Instruments

In qualitative research, the investigator is the principal instrument in the data collecting process (Grabner et al., 2012). I used semistructured interviews, archived documents, and information collected from the organization's website for this qualitative case study. The semistructured interview was appropriate for a means of data collection in a qualitative case study (Yin, 2015). I used document analysis to assess and construe information received from the organization's websites and archived documents (such as outsourcing agreements, performance work statements, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) filings) as recommended by O'Reilly and Parker (2013) to confirm data saturation.

The objective of the data collection process was to obtain the perceptions and ideas about best practices and strategies for reducing risks when participating in offshore outsourcing. By answering the interview questions, the participants described their experience of successfully managing risks. During the interviews, participants answered semistructured interview questions (see Appendix B) as a means to obtain rich details of the phenomenon under investigation.

A crucial characteristic of proving reliability is a strategy for collecting the research data to validate the research question. This is outlined in the interview procedures (see Appendix C) (Sim et al., 2014). Qualitative exploratory research involves

using semistructured interview questions to gather detailed data that lead to open-ended responses (Ballangrud et al., 2014). The questions in the instruments, (see Appendix B), allowed participants to provide their perceptions and ideas of the phenomenon.

Data collection also involved a member-checking process. Member checking helps guarantee credibility through participants' verification of the data collected during the interview and validated that the emerging themes are consistent with the participants' intended description of events (Reilly, 2015). After conducting the interviews and interpreting the data, I used the member-checking process to gain additional information. Member checking assures the accuracy of the data, ensures validity, and improves credibility (Carlson, 2010; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011).

Data Collection Technique

The Case Study inquirer requires various sources of data for a qualitative case study (Yin, 2015). In this study, one method I used was participant interviews to help the researcher grasp the participants' rationalization of the experience to determine the significance of the study. The process for the collection of data included (a) the dissemination of the invitation to the participants inviting them to participate in the study, (b) the collection of the participants' consent via email, and (c) the distribution of the interview questions. Multiple data sources, such as results from semistructured interviews, documented processes, historical records, direct and participant observation, and physical articles are relevant for case study research (Yin, 2018). In this case study, I used publicly available information derived from the company websites that related to

offshore outsourcing best practices, interview transcripts, and my notes to substantiate the basis of my study.

Participants were required to answer multiple interview questions relating to their experiences, specifically the *what* or *how* questions. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, face-to-face interviews were not conducted as the type of research I was conducting was not considered an essential activity. As an alternative, I conducted video conferencing and phone interviews in an ethical manner. To be respectful of the participants' time, I scheduled phone or video conference interviews, as needed, for about 30 minutes each, as phone and video conference interviews provided for flexibility based on participants' schedules.

Data Organization Technique

The process for data organization was to obtain digitized voice recordings of the participants' reply to the interview questions, create a transcription document of the recorded interviews, transfer the interview information onto a password-protected computer, and compile the interview information into an Excel journal (Loeppenthin et al., 2014). The process used in the collection of data was to include (a) the dissemination of the invitation to the participants inviting them to participate in the study, (b) the collection of the participants signed consent forms, and (c) the distribution and collection of the survey questions.

The data was collected in a manner that will protect the confidentiality of the participants. NVivo software will help manage and code the data. I was the only individual with access to the data obtained during the research. A computer thumb drive

was the means for filing participants' transcribed interviews. A locked file cabinet was used to store the data, the audio tapes, thumb drive, and the backup disc of the separate Microsoft Word files of each participant. The survey and interview responses were coded to identify the relevancy of the responses received. The information will be retained for five (5) years, at which time the information in hard and soft copies will be permanently deleted.

Data Analysis

In qualitative studies, data analysis is an inductive process where data are examined to identify themes to understand the meaning of the data collected during the interview process (Goel et al., 2008). This study encompassed data collected from the interview questions in specified categories. Multiple data sources, such as results from interviews, documented processes, historical records, direct and participant observation, and physical articles are relevant for case study research (Yin, 2018) to reduce bias. I also used publicly available information on company websites relating to outsourcing best practices, and my notes for this study.

The participants' responses to the interview questions was one of the sources for data analysis. To respect the participants' schedule, I arranged video conference interviews for about 30 minutes each, as video conference interviews provided for flexibility based on participants' schedules. The following semistructured interview questions enabled participants the opportunity to expound upon their extensive experiences of offshore outsourcing.

- 1. What strategies have you used to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries?
- 2. What strategies did you use to assess your current internal resources before committing to outsourcing your IT services?
- 3. How does the strategies you use provide you with a competitive advantage?
- 4. What strategies do you use to recognize potential outsourcing risks?
- 5. How does your company address potential risks with foreign outsourcing vendors?
- 6. How does your company's business objectives align with minimizing risk when outsourcing to foreign countries?
- 7. What challenges have you experienced in outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 8. What risks have you experienced when competing for outsourcing services in foreign countries?
- 9. What strategies have you found effective in mitigating challenges from outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 10. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to foreign countries?

After evaluating archival data and interview information, I manually analyzed and coded the data. I used data triangulation from a variety of data sources in this study. The use of multiple sources of research information helped to enrich the understanding of the study and eliminate evidence of bias (Yin, 2018).

The data measurement consisted of the inductive content analysis approach. This approach fostered a negative and positive composition to measure the data from the interview questions. Using the inductive content analysis displayed specific data patterns and helped to analyze the patterns (Simmons et al., 2011). Semistructured interviews were one of the sources of data used in this study. A method to determine the meaning of the results, based on the interview data, was to program the participants' information into groups of irregular components, distinct thoughts, or beliefs to create groups of themes (Rubin & Rubin, 2011). In this study, I used a five stage process for data analysis. The data analysis encompassed the following stages, as recommended by Yin (2018):

- 1. Accumulate the data.
- 2. Divide the data into specific groups.
- 3. Compile the data into themes.
- 4. Evaluate the information.
- 5. Develop conclusion.

To reject bias, I used a manual process to evaluate the data and categorize my results (Arbour & Wiegand, 2014). I manually coded relevant information from the transcript by using the different color font. This method allowed me to arrange the information into themes (Seidman, 2013). I codified the statements into single- or double-word meanings and assigned a representative number to facilitate sorting.

I used the commercial software, NVivo, to assist with data analysis, as a means to develop themes from the data (Marshall & Friedman, 2012; Pfaff et al., 2014). The

software facilitates the process of analyzing raw data collected from the interviews to identify clusters or themes based on the participant's experiences (Rubin & Rubin, 2011).

NVivo software helped me to facilitate the management of the data and assisted with identifying themes that address the stated research question. A quantitative study was not used to answer the research question because quantitative research would not provide the opportunity to develop additional research questions, if necessary.

Quantitative research was better suited to examine specific relationships among stated variables (Maxwell, 2013).

I created hierarchical themes through the lens of the resource-based view theory. I used NVivo to organize the data and assist in identifying patterns of codes. The process involved comparing key themes with the existing literature and the conceptual framework. This step was used as a means to make sense of the concepts and themes in terms of participants' experiences as recommended by Yin (2018).

Reliability and Validity

Key components of excellent research are reliability and validity are factors of quality research (Cronin, 2014). These factors are essential when providing justification for the results of the research (Yin, 2018). The researcher must use relevant qualitative strategies to attain dependability, credibility, conformability, and transferability (Kuo & Lach, 2012). This will result in a more reliable and valid research study (Houghton et al., 2013). The following subsections describe my approach to assuring reliability and validity.

Reliability

Dependability. Dependability in qualitative studies is an equivalent concept of reliability, which is used in quantitative research (Bryman, 2016). In qualitative studies, the researcher has to confirm duplication by thoroughly describing the research and member checking process (Flick, 2014). Member checking was conducted and included verification of the words stated with transcripts of discussion included for accuracy. The consistency, frequency, and sequencing of the verification was used to strengthen the research study's reliability (Keller & Casadevall-Keller, 2010). In addition, the precise translation was cross-checked with the intention of proving that the participants interviewed meant what was said during the recorded information (Flick, 2014). Clarification of the information was sought during the member-checking process.

Data saturation and purposeful sampling was used to ensure the variety of information collected validates the reliability of the research study and the accuracy of the participants' experience (Cope, 2014). To remediate the risks associated with lack of dependability, there has to be a thorough description of the approach used for data gathering, analysis, and clarification to alleviate duplication (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). I selected participants who were completely familiar with the risks associated with offshore outsourcing, and documented in detail the techniques used to gather, code and analyze the data collected (Shou et al., 2012).

Validity

Credibility. To ensure adequate research in qualitative studies, creditability, conformability, and transferability are corresponding elements of validity. Credibility can

be compared to internal validity and transferability can be compared to external validity (Karlsen, 2014). The process to assure credibility includes recording interviews to generate detailed transcriptions and providing the participants the opportunity to evaluate the information for accuracy (Silverman, 2015). Another creditability procedure that will be used is member checking for transcript accuracy and preventing drift in the definition of codes, as noted by Walliman (2015). Participants reviewed transcripts and data interpretation for possible errors in transcription, data interpretation, and code inconsistencies.

Triangulation is a validity procedure using different data sources to assist with understanding a phenomenon (Flick, 2014) and will provide substantiated evidence received from multiple sources that confirm the stated themes. When data are collected from multiple perspectives, this increases the validity of the study (Bryman, 2016). To assist with the validation of the suggested themes, the research study questions collected during the participants' interviews and information gained from reviewing the documentation and archival records will be assessed for effectiveness, as suggested by Silverman (2015).

The study included participants from three large U.S.-based corporations that have used offshore outsourcing. Video-conferencing or phone interviews was conducted with participants that agreed to be enrolled in the study. I was granted permission from the participants to record the interviews. The video-conferencing method enabled the collection of data by inquiring directly with the participants and gaining the visual perception of facial expressions and body language, which is vital in a qualitative

research study (Bernard & Ryan, 2010). Data included information from documented outsourcing-related material. Collecting data from multiple sources enabled me to gain various interpretations of the subject matter as well as alleviate the issue of construct validity, which can be present in case studies (Yin, 2018).

In this case study, I explored the strategies used to mitigate risk when companies engage in offshore outsourcing. The interview consisted of semistructured questions to add depth to the qualitative study by exploring the approaches used to diminish risks on successful offshore outsourcing.

Conformability. The confirmation of the trustworthiness of the stated results is referred to as conformability (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I documented the methods used to establish conformability, which required multiple examinations of different sources of data during the research study. Triangulation is a widely used method to ensure the credibility and conformability of qualitative studies and ensures that data saturation has occurred (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The validity of this study was further confirmed by requesting, via email, that the participants authenticate the data transcription. This is another form of member-checking (Kolb 2012). The transcribed data will be kept securely and allow for a review of the content.

Transferability. According to Amber (2012), transferability refers to the factor of whether dependability is evident in the qualitative study when compared to other research studies. Transferability includes the concept of thick descriptions, which facilitates assistance when evaluating concurrent research (Morales & Ladhari, 2011). By utilizing transferability, researchers will be able to demonstrate the connection between the themes

analyzed and suitably assign the findings to other contexts or viewpoints (Munthe-Kaas et al., 2019).

Transferability is applicable to establish whether the information compiled when conducting qualitative research is transferable to subsequent frameworks and perspectives (Branthwaite & Patterson, 2011; Oleinik, 2011). Transferability will be identified when the detailed information in the research findings is similar to additional research data or perspectives (Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012).

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies technology and telecommunications companies use to reduce the risks of outsourcing outside the United States. Section 2 defined the role of the researcher in managing the participants and providing answers to the research questions. Section 2 also defined the research method and design and identified the population and sampling methodology used. Data collection, organization, and analysis were discussed, as well as how reliability and validity were established during the research process. Section 3 presents a summary of the research findings and provide recommendations for further study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The objective of this qualitative multicase study was to investigate strategies that technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. I collected data from semistructured interviews with four leaders in the information technology and telecommunications industries experienced in implementing effectual strategies to mitigate risks when engaging in offshore outsourcing. Using the resource-based view theory (Barney, 1986) as the study's conceptual framework, I explored strategies that leaders used in their organization to successfully diminish the risks in outsourcing Information Technology services. The participants described various strategies to mitigate risks associated with utilizing offshore vendors, including creating a productive relationship among the key stakeholders by establishing measures to foster ongoing communication and building trust. This section includes the summary of the data analysis and conclusions that correlated to the research question.

The participants in the study disclosed their experiences with the methods used to mitigate risks. The methods used include: (a) ensuring vendor prequalification by conducting an assessment of potential vendors to determine the suitability of financial status and compatibility with the company's core business functions; (b) fostering effective communication at all levels through ongoing contact and communication between parties; (c) developing solid contractual arrangements by conducting ongoing reviews of vendor's compliance with contractual obligations; (d) determining the quality

of vendor experience by conducting ongoing reviews of vendor's staffing capability and process efficiencies, and; (e) ensuring stakeholder involvement by developing and reviewing performance metrics with key stakeholders. My findings indicated that participants who engaged in offshore outsourcing contributed to their company's overall success by reducing the potential of losing revenue through effective risk management. The participants' experiences of managing offshore vendors and minimizing risks could benefit other technology and telecommunications leaders and provide insight on effective processes that may help overcome potential risks when transferring certain in-house functions to outsourced vendors. The following sections present the details of the research findings in relation to the conceptual framework that outlines how outsourcing can improve the overall performance of an organization when risk is managed and minimized effectively, application to professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for action and further research.

Presentation of the Findings

The participants in this study disclosed their experiences about strategies needed to fully assess potential vendors during the selection process and ensure that the potential vendors were entirely made aware of the requirements during the solicitation process.

The strategies used by the participants were deemed to be more beneficial for the company when there was a clear understanding of the company's objectives. The overreaching research question for the study was: What strategies do technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries? I obtained data from multiple sources for this case study. I conducted in-depth

semistructured interviews of four business executives from four different companies using open-ended questions (see Appendix B). I reviewed written publications relating to risk management in offshore outsourcing developed by the participants and publicly available documents from three corporate websites that described outsourcing best practices.

The use of pseudonyms for each participant (e.g., P1, P2, P3 and P4) protected the identity of participants and preserved their confidentiality. Participants 1, 2, 3, and 4 were senior leaders of companies that engaged in varying levels of offshore outsourcing and who implemented successful strategies to minimize outsourcing risks. Two participants owned their own consulting business, and two participants were executive leaders at technology companies. The professional experience shows that the four participants have worked more than 20 years, and all had direct experience with offshore outsourcing. My original plan was to interview seven participants. I invited 12 participants to ensure data saturation. I received affirmation from all 12 requested participants. Eight participants withdrew their participation, resulting in four actual interviews. The interviews were conducted via web conferencing to maintain compliance with the World Health Organization's protocols to prevent the spread of Covid-19. In accordance with the multiple case study approach, I interviewed participants from different industries in different geographical locations. The interviews lasted an average of 45 minutes.

At the onset of the interview and throughout our discussion, each participant shared their level of experience as well as their perspective about minimizing risk when managing offshore outsourcing vendors. I presented the same 10 semistructured

interview questions to each participant. The recording was conducted through the Zoom application recording feature. The use of semistructured interviews, documents, and member checking revealed effective strategies developed and implemented to minimize risks. To identify themes, I used open-coding techniques and QSR NVivo® 12 to analyze the research data and as an aid in identifying high-frequency words or phrases. Five key themes resulting from my data analysis are discussed below in the subsections.

After the interviews, I expressed my gratitude to each participant for their participation in the study and transcribed the information recorded during the Zoom meetings using NVivo transcription software. I also reviewed my hand-written notes to capture additional information. To facilitate the member-checking process, I emailed the transcribed information and my summary of the responses to each participant to check for accuracy of the information. The participants did not make any changes to the transcribed information. I proceeded with collecting data until data saturation was achieved and no additional themes resulted from the collected data. I began the data analysis process by importing the transcribed information into the NVivo software program for coding, interpretation, and theme development.

The participants emphasized the importance of ensuring that the decision to engage in offshore outsourcing is a reliable and profitable business operation. I ascertained the top five themes from various data sources, including the interview transcriptions, participants' written publications, my notes, and publicly available information from company websites relating to offshore outsourcing best practices. I analyzed the themes and determined the degree to which they aligned with the conceptual

framework and literature review. The five themes are: (a) vendor prequalification; (b) effective communication at all levels; (c) solid contractual arrangement; (d) quality of vendor experience, and (e) stakeholder involvement. I also used procedural data triangulation during my research to examine the various data sources to verify the reliability and validity of my findings.

Once I completed the data collection, Yin's five-step qualitative data analysis process was used (Yin, 2018). The steps were compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. The process began with transferring the information collected into MS Word by manually coding and analyzing the data to identify the key themes. The data were then transmitted into NVivo software to access computer-aided coding to understand further and create the relevant themes.

Theme 1: Ensuring Vendor Prequalification

Every participant stressed the importance of ensuring that the potential vendor's ability to manage the outsourcing requirements meets the needs of the company's objectives. P1 said, "the vendors should be taken through a prequalification process to make sure that they are financially sound and that their infrastructure includes technology that is compatible with the company's technology." This is especially important when seeking to minimize the risk of outsourcing to foreign vendors.

P2 explained that "prequalifying vendors will allow the company to gain insight on the vendor's overall capability, level of integrity and key employee experience including industry certifications all which are vital aspects of being able to manage outsourcing responsibilities." P3 stated that, "During the solicitation phase, the company

must look at the vendor's fiscal resources, physical resources, and technical capabilities to narrow the list of potential vendors. The requirements would be outlined in a Statement of Work, allowing the vendors to provide us with information on what they can provide. Alternatively, the company can attach a Statement of Objectives to the competitive solicitation which would provide the company's key criteria for evaluation." P4 noted that: "A key part of the outsourcing process is vendor selection." This includes selecting vendors as a result of a competitive solicitation based on predetermined set of criteria that will meet the objectives of the company.

Theme 1 was consistent with the conceptual framework. The findings align with relational view theory, whereas establishing a relationship with a third-party outsourcing vendor allows the company to increase its competitive advantage by transferring the management of selected internal business processes to the selected vendor. Participants noted that companies prioritizing vendor prequalification are better positioned to achieve and maintain a competitive advantage by fostering effective outsourcing relationships. This theme suggests that the selection of competent outsourcing vendors may help the company's leaders achieve a successful vendor relationship with minimal risks. The positive vendor relationship may also help resolve any contractual limitations and provide a more straightforward change management process during the term of the contractual relationship (Wiengarten et al., 2016; Jin Kim et al., 2013; Vorontsova & Rusu, 2014). The outsourcing documents reviewed on company websites explains that conducting thorough vendor prequalification is an essential part of engaging in offshore

outsourcing with foreign vendors. This statement supports data obtained from participants' interviews.

Theme 2: Effective Communication at All Levels

Communication was a common theme among 3 out of 4 participants. P1 expressed: "During the phase where the company is transitioning its processes to the outsourcing vendor, communication at all levels is critical. This will ensure that there is a smooth transition, or in the unlikely event of a delay, alternative measures can be immediately put into place."

P3 explained that when services are outsourced to a global vendor, "the company may lose some control and visibility over the vendor" because they are overseas. In addition, another area of communication that poses risks when outsourcing is the language barrier. P3 spoke about personal experience with communication barriers that caused interpretation issues and ultimately resulted in a loss of revenue, intellectual property risks, and quality issues. P4 acknowledged that the exchange of knowledge and information is key to a successful outsourcing relationship. P4 stated that "the lack of communication can damage a company's reputation and reduce its competitive advantage."

Sundararajan et al. (2014) concluded that communication of the expected outcome of the relationship between the company and vendor is critical. The findings aligned with the literature review in that the material validated the participants' information that there is a greater risk if the outsourcing relationship is not managed effectively or if communication between the company and vendor is unclear. Lack of

communication or ineffective relationships between the parties can result in scheduling delays or data security breaches (Moe et al., 2014).

The outcome may include prioritizing service to a level of essential and nonessential tasks, as agreed upon in the outsourcing contract. Both parties will be required to identify what the potential risks may look like and how the changes can minimize or maximize the potential risks. The resource-based view theory considers relationships as resources. Popli et al. (2017) identified business relationships as intangible resources. The findings of this study could potentially contribute to understanding the relationship between an offshore outsourcing vendor and the organizations' personnel to ensure the personnel performs adequately to meet the organization's goals.

The theory initially developed by Darwin and others in the 1900s that there is a natural selection of variations that increase the ability to compete and survive. The assumption is that a company and outsourcing vendor experiencing ineffective communication will result in minimal opportunity to outsource with a global outsourcing vendor and face threats of survival (Anderson, 1994). The communication theme aligns with the body of literature and relates to the evolutionary economics theory in that language barriers and ineffective exchange of information can impact the successful outcome of an offshore outsourcing relationship between the parties. The theme also aligns with information obtained from the publicly available information on the P1's company website that communication is a key factor in maintaining a sustainable relationship with vendors when engaging in offshore outsourcing.

Theme 3: Solid Contractual Arrangement

The consensus among the participants was that the contractual agreement between the company and vendor must clearly state each party's obligation and associated penalties if either party does not meet its contractual obligation. P1 noted that "The terms and conditions of the contract should be introduced to the vendor during the vendor selection phase to introduce the vendor to the contractual obligations. There should be clear deliverables and milestones in the contract to allow the company to track the vendor's progress." P2 also reiterated "that the proper contractual terms and conditions are essential to allow the company to terminate for convenience or default." A solid termination clause will allow the company to terminate the contract at will or in the event the vendor does not meet the predefined milestones as stated in the contract.

P3 also stated that "the termination clauses in the contract are very important." In addition, P3 noted that "the contract should also include service level requirements that clearly state the expected service level of the vendor with measurement and monitoring tools and metrics as well as standard reporting procedures, which will allow the company to measure the vendor's performance against the service levels."

A key objective of the contract is to incorporate penalties when the vendor fails to attain specified service levels where business is impacted through failure to meet service performance requirements, mission-critical system requirements, or meet critical milestones or objectives. This makes it easier to mitigate the vendor when service levels are not met because it impacts the vendor in a financial manner. Also, applying incentives in the negotiated contract will likely encourage the vendor to meet or exceed the

prescribed service levels. In addition, including a clause that clearly defines liquidated damages is critical in order to hold the vendor accountable for losses that the company may suffer as a result of the vendor's nonperformance. P4 expressed the importance of the negotiation of the contract, especially taking care to minimize the vendor's ability to subcontract the services to third-party vendors. Subcontracting services to third-party vendors add risk to the vendor's ability to manage and monitor key elements of the contract, such as breach of data security.

The participants' response was in alignment with the information presented in the literature review that a cohesive client-vendor relationship is essential to reduce operational risks and critical to the success of the outsourcing project (Qi & Chau, 2015). The expectations of the client-vendor relationship outlined in the contract, effective administration of the contract, effective communication, knowledge sharing, commitment, and trust are all factors that can contribute to a successful contractual arrangement. This theme was further confirmed by the publicly available information obtained from P3's company website. According to the information, continuous assessment of each party's compliance to the contractual obligations ensures that all parties are accountable if the company's strategic goals are unmet.

Theme 4: Quality of Vendor Experience

Quality of vendor experience includes managing the security of the company's data, familiarity with the company's products and services, and cultural training. P1 suggested that: "The vendor must have the ability to develop an operational solution as well as have a thorough understanding of the company's geographical landscape." P2

reiterated that the vendor must show that their employees possess the appropriate industry certifications to show they are familiar with the IT operations or core center functions required to manage the company's data security. ISO 20000 certification is a service management system (SMS) standard that sets the requirements on how a service provider should plan, establish, implement, operate, monitor, review, maintain and improve the service management system to ensure it is safe and secure.

P3 advises that the company must verify the vendor's experience in advance of contract negotiation to alleviate the possibility of being 30, 60 or 90 days into the contract only to discover that the vendor does not have the experience they originally stated. The risk of outsourcing to offshore vendors may include the vendor not having adequate IT resources, such as WiFi, mobile networks, IP locations, which can be problematic when outsourcing IT functions.

The results of this study correlate with inadequate skilled employee resources are risky in offshore outsourcing because companies use employee attrition to measure offshore outsourcing vendor performance (Nicholson & Aman, 2012). The findings enhance the existing body of knowledge because foreign employees can seek jobs with multiple companies after being hired as offshore outsourcing services are in high demand (Sengupta & Dev, 2013).

Employee attrition significantly impacts a company's revenue and increases the cost of resource allocation and training (Sharda & Chatterjee, 2011). Companies considering engaging offshore outsourcing vendors must maintain their skilled and knowledgeable employees to experience long-term financial gain (Musteen, 2016). The

costs of wages and benefits to retain employees may impact a company's revenue resulting in the company engaging in outsourcing activities (Yao et al., 2010).

Theme 5: Stakeholder Involvement

Stakeholder involvement was emphasized by P1, P3 and P4. The main points of this theme are that the key stakeholders (internal and external) will play an integral part in identifying the business areas that require outsourcing and approving any costs that may impact the outsourcing decision. In addition, the key stakeholders must be a part of the decision-making process from the very beginning by providing input about the project plan, as well as approving the project plan and any change orders that are required. P4 emphasized that any exposure to risk that the company experiences must be clearly identified and communicated to the key stakeholders as the success or failure of the company will impact them.

The findings discovered during the participants' responses support the findings of the reviewed literature. Mykhaylenko et al. (2015) highlighted the decision to select an optimal outsourcing vendor impacts the effectiveness of the outsourcing relationship. The findings support other authors' conclusions that the success of an organization, when engaging in an offshore relationship, directly relates to the organization's leaders communicating their mission and vision to ensure the commitment of key stakeholders (Jacob et al., 2013).

The validity of the information collected from the participants supports the theme of this study. It establishes the relevance of the research findings with existing peer-reviewed literature that the involvement of key stakeholders enhances the success and

reduces the risks of the outsourcing relationship. The theme of the study aligns with the agency theory, which focused on the mechanisms required to assist critical stakeholders with creating a cohesive company-vendor relationship to effectively mitigate any risks that may arise (Mishra, 2017).

Findings Related to Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was resource-based view theory (Barney, 1986). The general premise of the Resource-Based View theory is that in order to gain competitive advantage, a firm must initially focus on its resources and skills, and then on its positioning in the industry. Then, a company needs to strategically manage the resource accumulation, coordination, and allocation process to attain a sustainable competitive advantage (Prahalad & Hamel, 1990). The methods used in researching companies experienced in managing offshore vendors should align with the knowledge that ineffective negotiations with vendors and lack of vendor management can result in risky business (Gamlin et al., 2020).

The conceptual framework of minimizing risks included elements of managing outsourcing costs. Monitoring of outsourcing vendor's performance standards can prevent the client from incurring unexpected costs from engaging in outsourcing activities (Grahovac et al., 2015). The findings of the study indicate that setting performance level goals for the offshore vendor can help to decrease additional costs for nonperformance. The evaluation of the offshore vendors' performance could also help control additional costs that may be incurred by the organization (MacKerron et al., 2015).

To evaluate the offshore vendor's efficiency, the participants stated that retaining a third-party auditing company helps ensure optimal performance. The organization's leaders can gain valuable insight on outsourcing costs by reviewing service level goals, monitoring performance, and evaluating whether the goals have been achieved (Larsen, 2016). The findings of this study suggest that failing to achieve the organization's performance goals with respect to outsourcing can result in loss of revenue.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings from the study could be of value and contribute to the understanding that leaders in technology and telecommunications companies could apply the results of the study in a structured approach to improve business practices to understand better and provide adequate management of offshore outsourcing activities. By employing the themes generated in this study, the managers could potentially offer proper overall management throughout the lifecycle of the outsourcing process, which could better prioritize the functions for which the company engaged the offshore vendors to perform. Based on the participants' responses to the semistructured interview questions and review of the company documents, I found that establishing and implementing strategic risk management processes that include but are not limited to vendor oversight practices could potentially support positive company performance.

The success of the outsourcing contract frequently depends on the choice of the vendor during the preselection process. The company's key decision makers' assessment and selection of the potential vendors before executing the contract is vital (Lacity et al., 2015). In addition, the body of knowledge relating to the elements that result in increased

risk when meeting company objectives would directly result from poor vendor selection and management of vendor relationships (Williams & Durst, 2019).

The elements of the study that provide knowledge of the basis for companies to identify risks that cause outsourcing vendors to show a lack of performance when meeting the company's assigned deliverables contribute to the key risk management decisions. The themes identified in this study could be instrumental in overcoming any challenges that can outweigh good performance by the vendors. An in-depth understanding of the offshore vendor's internal processes could provide the company's decision makers with insight on how an analysis of vendor management can assist with the monitoring of the vendor's employees as well as performance levels.

Engaging the company's key stakeholders in evaluating vendors is a critical method of determining whether the vendor can meet the company's objectives. The key stakeholders could be concerned with the vendor's work environment and how the environment could directly impact the success of the outsourced services. This study presented findings that suggested poor oversight of the vendor employees would directly affect employee morale, low employee performance, and lack of incentives to perform at the highest level. The study's findings also suggest that the company and the vendor should have a mutually cooperative relationship to enable both parties to succeed (Collm & Schedler, 2014). The collaboration of the company and vendor in the decision-making process and implementation of key practices could improve employee morale and increase employee performance. It could also result in enforcing a positive work environment and a trust-worthy client-vendor relationship to achieve defined objectives.

Adequate training for the employees of the outsourced vendors will contribute to the elimination or reduction of risk and breakdown of communication when striving to meet the company's defined goals. When collecting the research data, the participants conveyed that the lack of training resulted in increased errors. The participants expressed that limited direction on how to manage the assigned tasks resulted in poor employee performance at the vendor's locations. The research data demonstrated that a key business process would involve constant training resources to enable employees to increase their level of performance. The training would also allow the vendor to develop and retain experienced employees that are more capable of meeting the company's defined goals, which would in turn, improve the quality of service the vendor provides.

When the company's key decision makers are not involved in the design and implementation of the vendor's requirements, the result can be the failure to meet organizational goals. In the findings of the study, the company should not have to engage in micromanaging the vendor employees to ensure the vendor meets the company's expectations. The participants expressed that setting clear performance goals and making sure the vendor agrees with the goals during contract negotiation is not a common business practice. The company may oftentimes set performance levels that are not attainable by the vendor, which sets the vendor up for failure. As a result, the findings presented that an effective business practice would involve realistic goals, clear understanding by the company of the vendor capabilities, and increased alliance between the company and the vendor when developing the key design and implementation strategies. Eliminating the potential for the company to micromanage the vendor,

providing of well-defined objectives, and creating open communication will contribute to the success of achieving the company's objectives.

Efficient communication and system capabilities are two key factors that companies should consider when evaluating potential outsourcing vendors. The participants conveyed those discrepancies in the information provided versus information confirmed and lack of efficient systems could result in poor vendor performance. Effective business practices by the company would include open communication and collaboration with key business partners to discuss the company's objectives, clear understanding of the company's and vendor's system functionality, and ongoing measurement of performance levels. Engaging in this business practice can result in minimal risks and success of meeting defined objectives.

The findings of this study contributed to the understanding of the practices that can result in poor vendor performance in meeting defined objectives and increasing risks. The findings of this study indicate that the key factors to reduce risks include: (a) prequalification of vendors, (b) communication, (c) effective contracts, (d) vendor experience, and (e) stakeholder input. The incorporation of these key factors in the business strategy could result in high vendor performance and reduced overall risks. The findings of this study also contribute to an existing body of knowledge relating to engaging with offshore vendor organizations by demonstrating that the relevance of the key factors described above may increase the success rate of both the company and the vendor.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include technology and telecommunication leaders who use effective strategies to manage the outsourcing process and minimize risks will have positive business results, which will in turn increase the success of offshore outsourcing relationships. Global markets, such as India, China, Mexico, and the Philippines are the primary countries receiving outsourced services from the United States (Gurung & Prater, 2017). Services that are sent offshore, such as IT, customer service, and financial data, have increased year over year in these countries and are expected to continue to see growth (Chipalkatti et al., 2014). Chipalkatti et al. (2014) stated that 60% of the companies surveyed engaged in offshore relationships and planned to expand the current offshore operations to profit from the economic benefits of offshoring engagements to sustain competitive advantages. Socially, an increased demand in the countries mentioned above could improve the economy and standard of living for citizens residing in the countries.

Additional implications for social change include the possibility for leaders to identify strategies that would increase the profitability and competitive advantage of the company and minimize overall risks. Also, an increase in the demand of offshore services might contribute to positive social change by: (a) improving the foundation that would lead to job creation and growth in countries identified as emerging markets, and (b) increase cultural awareness through establishing commonalities and alignment with foreign business practices. As business leaders formulate strategic partnerships with

offshore vendors in certain countries, the cultural values, and business practices will be better received, and the societal gaps can be bridged to create better partnerships.

The success of minimizing risks when utilizing outsourcing vendors may lead to stable economic conditions for countries where outsourcing vendors India, China, Mexico, and the Philippines are the primary countries receiving outsourced services from the United States (Gurung & Prater, 2017). The study was designed to expand upon the knowledge of outsourcing from a company leader's perspective by exploring insights into how the leaders view operating efficiencies and effectiveness. Outsourced decision-making that is effective may increase sustainable business practices that could result in better outsourcing partnerships between companies and outsourcing vendors (Manning et al., 2011). Companies can create decision-making practices that contribute to the overall performance of both parties.

The findings from this study can serve as a blueprint for the essential practices that results in high performance and low risk. The findings could benefit domestic company leaders, offshore vendors, and the communities they are involved in by creating successful outsourcing functions. This would also include providing company leaders the ability to avoid unsuccessful negotiation of contracts with offshore vendors to ensure deliverables are successfully met.

Recommendations for Action

Companies have experienced an increase in offshore outsourcing which often presents a great deal of business risks, including loss of revenue, data security breaches, disruption of services, and lack of control of processes (Steven, 2015). The findings in

the study highlight the results from a comprehensive exploration of the successful strategies used to mitigate risks when engaging in offshore outsourcing. The findings may contribute to U.S. business leaders' improving offshore outsourcing business practices to minimize risks in offshore outsourcing practices.

Based on the study findings, I recommend the following strategies and practices to business leaders to improve strategies to minimize risk when outsourcing services to global vendors.

Vendor Prequalification

Company leaders should carefully engage in vendor prequalification before awarding a contract to increase the likelihood of success of vendor performance. In addition, leaders should not use cost reduction as a leading factor when selecting a vendor. Other factors to consider when selecting a vendor include verifiable experience, vendor's internal business processes, competency of the company's business, and other industry-defined criteria. Leaders should define the necessary costs, inspect the vendor's performance record, and carefully examine the contractual terms with vendors.

Effective Communication

Identify any gaps or lack of understanding between the company and vendor that could affect the positive outcome of achieving business objectives. Use internal and external quality assessment tools to monitor the effectiveness of the services provided by the vendor and use the results to reduce costs in the long term. Establish a trusting relationship with the vendors to promote communication across all levels.

Define Contractual Arrangement

Identify the expectations of vendor efficiency and review the information to understand how a lack of performance can result in contract termination. Implement strategies to minimize risks by applying the necessary focus on the vendor's performance scorecards. Engage third-party companies to examine and conduct audits on the vendor's performance related to the efficiency of services provided and compliance with contractual requirements.

Vendor Experience

Effectively manage risks to ensure the success of the outsourcing relationship.

Conduct periodic visits to vendor's locations to validate the quality of service and compliance with contractual requirements. Representatives from the vendor and the company should define the change management process and how changes to the scope of the contract can involve potential risks.

Engage Key Stakeholders

Ensure key stakeholders are involved in the decision-making process to outsource to an offshore vendor and the critical implications the decision can make for the company. Engage stakeholders to discuss the outsourcing opportunity and potential challenges and opportunities to make an informed decision. Evaluate and plan the strategy to enter into a contractual arrangement with the offshore vendor.

By applying these recommended strategies, business leaders may benefit from learning how to identify and mitigate the risks in their relationships with offshore vendors. I will distribute my findings in this study to business leaders through (a)

business journals, (b) business conferences and summits, and (c) training conferences to educate business leaders from various business sectors.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study focused on technology and telecommunications leaders' strategies to mitigate risk when outsourcing services to foreign vendors. The approaches recognized in this study are significant to overall business practices. The study results reflected the experiences of study participants who engaged in outsourcing with offshore vendors.

To further increase the understanding of the strategies leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to foreign countries, I recommend researchers conduct more extensive studies on the same or similar industries. Researchers can also further research how the information can be transferable to financial and manufacturing service companies that outsource with offshore vendors in countries such as Canada, Brazil, and Australia.

Researchers should conduct comprehensive explorations to study business leaders' additional strategies to mitigate risks. The other researchers may employ the findings from the different companies to compare to the information gathered from the participants of this study and explore those findings to determine the use of information financial and manufacturing business service industries.

Reflections

As I reflected on the doctoral study process, I found the process engaging and enlightening concerning effective risk management practices. Before I conducted the study, I had a limited view of the importance of managing risk when engaging in offshore

outsourcing. I gained an extensive understanding of how risk management strategies have a substantial role in prioritizing successful business processes. Upon reviewing the literature, I learned that risk management is more complex when compared to what I previously thought I knew. Complexity creates sources of new opportunities, in addition to increasing challenges that need to be addressed.

As the researcher of this qualitative case study, I was required to collect data without bias and judgment. I strived to comprehend the participants' experiences to present the findings and recommendations ethically, objectively, and organized. Upon interviewing the participants, the information I received about the participants' experiences enlightened my perception of the process business leaders follow to create a positive, collaborative experience with minimal risk when engaging with offshore vendors.

Prior to conducting the study, my view of contractual relationships between companies and offshore vendors was that this relationship could foster many power struggles, conflict of interest, and opportunism. After conducting the study, I realized that companies and vendors could develop long-term business relationships with common goals.

The journey through this doctoral study process was, at times, quite challenging but informative. I realized that doctoral research is filled with challenges and hurdles; critical thinking and determination are crucial attributes required to complete the doctoral study journey. I could not have anticipated the need to collect research data during a global pandemic. During this time, businesses were closed or were operating on a remote

schedule, which resulted in obstacles when I attempted to schedule interviews. Many business leaders were hesitant to participate in interviews as they were struggling to stay afloat in their businesses. I did not allow the challenges to deter me from pushing forward. Overall, the challenges made me push harder to completion. The experience I valued most of all was having an incredible mentor, Dr. Marilyn Simon, who always encouraged me to keep pushing through to the end. I also enjoyed conversing weekly with people from all over the world with various cultural experiences which also made me appreciate the opportunity to engage in the doctoral process.

As a professional who has many years of experience writing contracts and proposals, I had a preconceived idea that the process would be less challenging for me than for someone who may not engage in some form of writing as a profession. However, that was not the case. Participating in this study allowed me to improve my critical thinking skills, academic writing, and formalizing business strategies. The level of academia I experienced throughout this process provided me with a return on my investment.

Conclusion

The focus of the study was to determine the key strategies used by technology and telecommunications leaders to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to vendors in foreign countries. The findings from this qualitative single-case study disclosed that successful vendor prequalification, effective communication, and the involvement of key stakeholders contributed to effective risk management strategies, which resulted in competitive advantage and increased revenue. I used the data collected from the

participants' interviews and additional company documents to determine that business leaders executed specific business strategies to minimize risks.

The goal of business leaders in most companies is to increase revenue. Business leaders should take the necessary measures to mitigate outsourcing risks that could affect the company's profitability and status in the marketplace. Business leaders should use the recommended actions detailed in this study to determine the factors involved when companies experience risks in their engagement with offshore vendors.

References

- Alonso, A. D., Sakellarios, N., Alexander, N., & O'Brien, S. (2018). Corporate social responsibility in a burgeoning industry: A stakeholder analysis. *Journal of Strategy and Management*, 11(1), 112-130. https://doi.org/10.1108/jsma-04-2017-0024
- Alvarez, S. A., & Barney, J. B. (2017). Resource-based theory and the entrepreneurial firm. *Strategic entrepreneurship: Creating a new mindset*, 87-105. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405164085.ch5
- Amber, G. R. (2012). Offshore outsourcing of IT services as new service development.

 Journal of Organizational Change Management, 25(3), 445-461.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/09534811211228157
- Anne-Maarit University of Turku, Linnéa University of Turku, & Ville University of Turku. (2017). Developing offshore outsourcing practices in a global selective outsourcing environment the IT supplier's viewpoint. International Journal of Information Systems and Project Management, (01), 27.

 https://doi.org/10.12821/ijispm050102
- Arbour, R. B., & Wiegand, D. L. (2014). Self-described nursing roles experienced during care of dying patients and their families: A phenomenological study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, *30*, 211-218.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2013.12.002

- Babin, R., & Saunderson, S. (2016). Governance of outsourcing: Building a better relationship. *Journal of Information Systems Applied Research*, 9(1), 16. https://doi.org/10.1057/jittc.2012.10
- Beasley, M., Bradford, M., & Dehning, B. (2009). The value impact of strategic intent on firms engaged in information systems outsourcing. International Journal of Accounting Information Systems, 10(2), 79-96.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accinf.2008.08.001
- Bendoly, E., Bharadwaj, A., & Bharadwaj, S. (2012). Complementary drivers of new product development performance: Cross-functional coordination, information system capability, and intelligence quality. *Production and Operations*Management, 21, 653–667. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-5956.2011.01299.x
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Berry, G. R. (2011). A cross-disciplinary literature review: Examining trust on virtual teams. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 24(3), 9-28. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.20016
- Bhalla, A., & Terjesen, S. (2013). Cannot make do without you: Outsourcing by knowledge-intensive new firms in supplier networks. *Industrial Marketing*Management, 42(2), 166-179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.12.005

- Boeije, H. (2010). *Analysis in qualitative research*. Sage Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.5785/26-2-24
- Bouchet, A., Troilo, M., & Spaniel, W. (2015). Internal sourcing, social responsibility, and human assets: A framework for labor procurement negotiations in baseball's talent supply chain. *Corporate governance: The International Journal of Business in Society*, 15, 214-228. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-09-2014-0108
- Brandl, K. (2019). The impact of offshoring on knowledge-intensive services: A study of activities in service production processes. *Global Strategy Journal*, *9*(3), 453-487. https://doi.org/10.1002/gsj.1352
- Brannen, J. (Ed.). (2017). *Mixing methods: Qualitative and quantitative research*.

 Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315248813
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods. Oxford university press.
- Campbell, S. (2014). What is qualitative research? *Clinical Laboratory Science*, 27(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.29074/ascls.27.1.3
- Carmel, E., & Tjia, P. (2006). *Offshoring information technology*. Cambridge:

 Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511541193
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E. H. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The qualitative report*, 19(32), 1. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2014.1028
- Christopher, M., Peck, H., & Towill, D. (2006). A taxonomy for selecting global supply chain strategies. *The International Journal of Logistics*, 17(2), 277-287. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090610689998

- Click, R. L., & Duening, T. N. (2005). Business process outsourcing. The Competitive

 Advantage. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118386279
- Collm, A., & Schedler, K. (2014). Strategies for introducing organizational innovation to public service organizations. *Public Management Review*, *16*(1), 140-161. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2013.822528
- Cooper, D. R., Schindler, P. S., & Sun, J. (2006). Business research methods (Vol. 9, pp. 1-744). New York: Mcgraw-Hill. https://doi.org/10.11120/msor.2003.03010055
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 89-91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed-methods.* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage publications.
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19-27. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Davis, G. B., Ein-Dor, P., King, W. R., & Torkzadeh, R. (2006). IT Offshoring: History, Prospects and Challenges. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 7(11), 770-795. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00108
- Davis, P. J., & Simpson, E. (2017). Resource-Based Theory, Competition and Staff Differentiation in Africa: Leveraging employees as a source of sustained competitive advantage. *American Journal of Management*, 17(1), 19.
- Deloitte LLP. (March 2014). Managing outsourcing risks at the early stages. *Wall Street Journal, Risk & Compliance Journal*.

- http://deloitte.wsj.com/riskandcompliance/2014/03/03/managing-early-stage-outsourcing-risks/
- Deloitte LLP. (2020). Outsourcing trends and strategies shaping the future. *Deloitte*Global Outsourcing Survey 2020.
 - https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/Process-and-Operations/gx-2020-global-outsourcing-survey-how-much-disruption.pdf
- Denning, S. (2013). What went wrong at Boeing. *Strategy & Leadership*, 41(3), 36-41. https://doi.org/10.1108/10878571311323208
- Department of Health, Education and Welfare, & National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (2014). The Belmont Report. Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. *The Journal of the American College of Dentists*, 81(3), 4-13.
- Ding, H., Benyoucef, L., & Xie, X. (2005). A simulation optimization methodology for supplier selection problem. *International Journal of Computer Integrated* Manufacturing, 18(2-3), 210-224. https://doi.org/10.1080/0951192052000288161
- Doval, E. (2016). Is outsourcing a strategic tool to enhance the competitive advantage?.

 *Review of General Management, 23(1), 78-87.
- Dreher, A. (2006). Does globalization affect growth? Evidence from a new index of globalization. *Applied Economics*, *38*(10), 1091-1110. https://doi.org/10.1080/00036840500392078
- Dul, J., & Hak, T. (2012). *Case study methodology in business research*. Oxford, UK: Elsevier, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080552194

- Dyrvig, A. K., Kidholm, K., Gerke, O., & Vondeling, H. (2014). Checklists for external validity: a systematic review. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, 20(6), 857-864. https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12166
- Easton, G. (2011). Critical realism in case study research. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *39*, 118-128. http://www.elsevier.com. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2008.06.004
- Elahi, E. (2013). Risk management: The next source of competitive advantage.

 Foresight: The Journal of Futures Studies, Strategic Thinking and Policy, 15(2),

 117-131. https://doi.org/10.1108/14636681311321121
- Ellis, T. J., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a Guide for Novice Researchers on Research

 Methodology: Review and proposed methods. *Issues in Informing Science & Information Technology*, 6323-337. https://doi.org/10.28945/1062
- Ellram, L. M., Tate, W., & Billington, C. (2007). Offshore outsourcing of professional services: A transaction cost economics perspective. Journal of Operations

 Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j/jom.2007.02.008
- Emerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling: How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 109, 164-168.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482x1510900215
- Farmer, N. (2017). The invisible organization: How informal networks can lead organizational change. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315238883

- Farrell, D. (2005). Offshoring: Value creation through economic change. *Journal of Management Studies*, 42(3), 675-683. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2005.00513.x
- Flick, U. (2014). *An introduction to qualitative research*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446282243
- Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalizing data saturation for theory-based interview studies. Psychology and Health, 25, 1229-1245. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440903194015
- Fratocchi, L., Di Mauro, C., Barbieri, P., Nassimbeni, G., & Zanoni, A. (2014). When manufacturing moves back: Concepts and questions. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 20, 54-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2014.01.004
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gamlin, S., Park, E. D., & Rodriguez, D. A. (2020). COVID-19's Impact on Outsourced

 Services Key guidelines for implementing work-from-home arrangements.

 Legal Alerts. https://us.eversheds-sutherland.com/NewsCommentary/Legal-Alerts/230592/
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772-1789. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2373

- Giles, D., & Yates, R. (2014). Enabling educational leaders: Qualitatively surveying an organization's culture. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 22, 94-106. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-11-2011-0526
- Goel, A., Moussavi, N., & Srivatsan, V. N. (2008). Time to rethink offshoring. McKinsey Quarterly, 14, 1-5.
- Gokhale, A. A. (2007). Offshore outsourcing: A Delphi study. *Journal of Information*Technology Case & Application Research, 9(3), 6-18.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15228053.2007.10856116
- Gonsalves, G. C. (2002). Business Process Management: Integration of quality management and reengineering for enhanced competitiveness. (Order No. 3063226, University of Kentucky). ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, 156. http://search.proquest.com/docview/251637441?accountid=14872. (251637441).
- Gonzales, A., Dorwin, D., Gupta, D., Kalyan, K., & Schimler, S. (2004). Outsourcing: Past, Present and Future. *Unpublished paper*.
- Grahovac, E., Parker, S. & Shittu, E. (2015). The impact of costliness, competitive importance, and modularity of investments on outsourcing. *Production and Operations Management*, 24(3), 421-437. https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.12246
- Gunasekaran, A., Irani, Z., Choy, K., Filippi, L., & Papadopoulos, T. (2015).

 Performance measures and metrics in outsourcing decisions: A review for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 161, 153-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/jipe.2014.12.021

- Gurung, A., & Prater, E. (2017). A research framework for the impact of cultural differences on IT outsourcing. In *Global Sourcing of Services: Strategies, Issues and Challenges* (pp. 49-82). https://doi.org/10.1142/9789813109315_0002
- Gylling, M., Heikkilä, J., Jussila, K., & Saarinen, M. (2015). Making decisions on offshore outsourcing and backshoring: A case study in the bicycle industry.

 International Journal of Production Economics, 162, 92-100.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.01.006
- Hade, E., & Lemeshow, S. (2008). Probability sample. In P. Lavrakas (Ed.),Encyclopedia of survey research methods. (pp. 622-624). Thousand Oaks, CA:SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org10.4135/9781412963947.n406
- Hansen, C., Mena, C., & Skipworth, H. (2017). Exploring political risk in offshoring engagements. *International Journal of Production Research*, 55(7), 2051-2067. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2016.1268278
- Hao, M. (2000). "Competitive Advantage and Firm Performance", Competitiveness Review: An International Business Journal, Vol. 10 Issue: 2, pp.15-32. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb046396
- Harland, C., Lamming, R., & Knight, L. (1999). *Returning to core or creating a hollow:*A strategic study of outsourcing and its implications. El Segundo, CA: Computer Sciences Corporation. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570510613929
- Hawamdeh, S., & Raigangar, V. (2014). Qualitative interviewing: Methodological challenges in Arab settings. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 27-31. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2014.01.21.3.27.e357

- Herath, T., & Kishore, R. (2009). Offshore outsourcing: Risks, challenges, and potential solutions. *Information Management*, (4) 312. https://doi.org/10.1080/10580530903245549
- Hines, P., Jones, D., & Rich, N. (2017). Lean logistics. In *Handbook of Logistics and Supply-Chain Management*. Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/9780080435930-011
- Hirschheim, R., Heinzl, A., & Dibbern, J. (Eds.). (2013). *Information systems*outsourcing: Enduring themes, emergent patterns and future directions. New

 York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-43820-6
- Hitt, M. A., Xu, K., & Carnes, C. M. (2016). Resource based theory in operations management research. *Journal of Operations Management*, 41, 77-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.002
- Ho, W., Zheng, T., Yildiz, H., & Talluri, S. (2015). Supply chain risk management: a literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*, *53*(16), 5031-5069. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2015.1030467
- Hodosi, G., & Rusu, L. (2019). *Risks, relationships and success factors in IT*outsourcing: a study in large companies. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05925-5
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326

- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International journal of qualitative studies on health and well-being*, *9*(1), 23606. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Jacob, W. J., Shiflett, K. H., Gaulee, U., de Klaver, L., Lee, C. W., Kamolpun, S., & Rattananuntapat, M. (2013). Perceptions of the role and effectiveness of special interest groups within a professional organization. *Professional Development in Education*, 39, 141-155. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2012.722560
- Jahns, C., Hartmann, E., & Bals, L. (2006). Offshoring: Dimensions and diffusion of a new business concept. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 12, 218-231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2006.10.001
- Jain, D. M., & Khurana, R. (2013). Need for sustainable global business model in software outsourcing. *Business Process Management Journal*, 19(1), 54-69. https://doi.org/10.1108/14637151311294868
- Javalgi, R. G., Joseph, W., Granot, E., & Gross, A. C. (2013). Strategies for sustaining the edge in offshore outsourcing of services: the case of India. *Journal of Business* & *Industrial Marketing*, 28(6), 475-486. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-04-2013-0103
- Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: Managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, (3)4, 305-360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(76)90026-X

- Jin Kim, H., Shin, B., & Lee, H. (2013). The mediating role of psychological contract breach in IS outsourcing: Inter-firm governance perspective. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 22, 529-547. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2012.41
- Kakabadse, N., & Kakabadse, A. (2000). Critical review Outsourcing: A paradigm shift. Journal of Management Development, Vol. 19 Issue: 8, pp. 670-728. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621710010377508
- Kakumanu, P., & Portanovai, A. (2006). Outsourcing: its benefits, drawbacks and other related issues. *Journal of American Academy of Business*, 9(2), 1-6. http://www.jaabc.com/journal.htm
- Karlsen, J. E. (2014). Design and application for a replicable foresight methodology bridging quantitative and qualitative expert data. *European Journal of Futures Research*, 2(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40309-014-0040-y
- Khan, H., & Bashar, O. K. M. R. (2016). Does globalization create a 'level playing field' through outsourcing and brain drain in the global economy? *The Journal of Developing Areas* 50(6), 191-207. Tennessee State University College of Business. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0143
- Kim, Y. J., Lee, J. M., Koo, C., & Nam, K. (2013). The role of governance effectiveness in explaining IT outsourcing performance. *International Journal of Information Management*, 33, 850-860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.07.003
- Koku, P. S. (2015). A view from the street: An exploratory study of consumer attitudes toward offshoring of professional services in the United States. *The Journal of Services Marketing*, 29, 150-159. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-10-2013-0263

- König, A., & Spinler, S. (2016). The effect of logistics outsourcing on the supply chain vulnerability of shippers. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 27(1), 122-141. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlm-03-2014-0043
- Kosekahyaoglu, L. (2006). A comparative analysis of FDI in Turkey and the CEECS: Is there any link between FDI and trade? *Journal of Business Economics & Management*, 7(4), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.3846/16111699.2006.9636140
- Kotabe, M., & Murray, J. Y. (2018). Global Sourcing Strategy: An Evolution in Global Production and Sourcing Rationalization. *Advances in Global Marketing* (pp. 365-384). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61385-7_15
- Kotlarsky, J., & Oshri, I. (2008). Country attractiveness for offshoring and offshore outsourcing: Additional considerations. *Journal of Information Technology*, 23(4), 228-231. https://doi.org/10.1057/jit.2008.17
- Kotlarsky, J., Scarbrough, H., & Oshri, I. (2014). Coordinating expertise across knowledge boundaries in offshore-outsourcing projects: The role of codification. MIS Quarterly, 38(2), 607-627. https://doi.org/10.25300/misq/2014/38.2.13
- Kumar, S., Zampogna, P., & Nansen, J. (2010). A closed loop outsourcing decision model for developing effective manufacturing strategy. *International Journal of Production Research*, 48, 1873-1900. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540802680542
- Lacity, M. C., & Willcocks, L. P. (2008). *Global information technology outsourcing: In search of business advantage*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446262818

- Lacity, M. C., Solomon, S., Yan, A., & Willcocks, L. P. (2015). Business process outsourcing studies: a critical review and research directions. In *Formulating Research Methods for Information Systems* (pp. 169-251). Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137509888_6
- Lahiri, S. (2016). Does outsourcing really improve firm performance? Empirical evidence and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 18(4), 464-497. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12075
- Laing, R. D. (2012). *Interpersonal perception: A theory and method of research*. New York, NY: The Springer Publishing Company, LLC.
- Larsen, M. M. (2016). Failing to estimate the costs of offshoring: A study on process performance. *International Business Review*, 25, 307-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.05.008
- Levine, L. (2012). Offshoring (or offshore outsourcing) and job loss among U.S. workers. *Congressional Research Service*, 7-5700.
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health promotion practice*, *16*(4), 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lewis, M., & Staehler, T. (2010). *Phenomenology: An introduction*. New York, NY: Continuum International Publishing Group.

https://doi.org/10.5040/9781350251861

- Lin, Y., & Wu, L. Y. (2014). Exploring the role of dynamic capabilities in firm performance under the resource-based view framework. *Journal of business* research, 67(3), 407-413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.12.019
- Lincoln, Y. S. (2009). Ethical practices in qualitative research. In D.M. Mertens & P.E. Ginsberg (Eds.), *The handbook of social research ethics* (pp. 150-169). Los Angeles: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483348971
- Liu, S., & Wang, L. (2014). Understanding the impact of risks on performance in internal and outsourced information technology projects: The role of strategic importance.

 International Journal of Project Management, 32(8), 1494-1510.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.01.012
- Lockamy, III, A. & McCormack, K. (2010). Analysing risks in supply networks to facilitate outsourcing decisions, International Journal of Production Research, 48:2, 593-611. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540903175152
- Loeppenthin, K., Esbensen, B., Ostergaard, M., Jennum, P., Thomsen, T., & Midtgaard, J. (2014). Physical activity maintenance in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A qualitative study. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 28, 289-299. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215513501526
- MacKerron, G., Kumar, M., Benedikt, A., & Kumar, V. (2015). Performance management of suppliers in outsourcing project: Case analysis from the financial services industry. *Production Planning & Control*, 26, 150-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2013.869702

- Madhuchhanda, A., & Saji, M. (2009). Risks in offshore IT outsourcing: A service provider perspective. European Management Journal. 27. 418-428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2009.01.004
- Manning, S., Lewin, A. Y., & Schuerch, M. (2011). The stability of offshore outsourcing relationships. Management International Review, 51(3), 381-406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-011-0081-4
- Marber, P. (2005). Globalization and its contents. *World Policy Journal*, 21(4), 29-37. https://doi.org/10.1215/07402775-2005-1010
- Marchewka, J. T., & Oruganti, S. (2013). A combined model of IT outsourcing partnerships and success. *Communications of the IIMA*, *13*(2). 69-85. http://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/ciima/
- Mattoo, A., & Wumsch, S. (2004). Preempting protectionism in services: The WTO and outsourcing. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3237. Washington,
 D.C. World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-3237
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674

- Mealer, M., & Jones, J. (2014). Methodological and ethical issues related to qualitative telephone interviews on sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, *21*, 32-37. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.32.e1229
- Mehta, A., & Mehta, N. (2017). Moving Toward an Integrated Framework of Offshore Information Technology Outsourcing Success, Journal of Global Information Technology Management, 20:3, 171-194.
 https://doi.org/ 10.1080/1097198X.2017.1354596
- Merriam, S. B. (2010). Qualitative case studies. *International Encyclopedia of Education*, 3, 456-462. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-044894-7.-1532-3
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Mertens, D. M., & Ginsberg, P. E. (2009). *The handbook of social research ethics*. Los Angeles: Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483348971
- Mishra, C. S. (2017). Creating and sustaining competitive advantage: management logics, Business models, and entrepreneurial rent (pp. 307-355). Cham:

 Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-54540-0
- Mitchell, R. (2018). Resource-Based Theory: Creating and Sustaining Competitive

 Advantage Edited by J.B. Barney and D.N Clark Oxford University Press,

 Oxford, Paperback, 2007; 316 pages, ISBN 978-019-927769-8. Journal of

 Public Affairs, 8(4), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.303
- Modarress, B., & Ansari, A. (2011). The economic, technological, and national security risks of offshore outsourcing. *Journal of Global Business Issues*; *1*(2), 165 -175.

Moe, N. B., Šmite, D., Hanssen, G. K., & Barney, H. (2014). From offshore outsourcing to insourcing and partnerships: four failed outsourcing attempts. *Empirical Software Engineering*, *19*(5), 1225-1258.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10664-013-9272-x

- Mohammed, H. A. Tafti (2005). "Risks factors associated with offshore IT outsourcing",

 Industrial Management & Data Systems, Vol. 105 Issue: 5, pp.549-560,

 https://doi.org/10.1108/02635570510599940
- Mousavi, S. M., & Gitinavard, H. (2019). An extended multi-attribute group decision approach for selection of outsourcing services activities for information technology under risks. *International Journal of Applied Decision*Sciences, 12(3), 227-241. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijads.2019.100437
- Mudambi, R., & Venzin, M. (2011). The strategic nexus of offshoring and outsourcing decisions. *Journal of Management Studies*, 47(8), 1510-1533. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00947.x
- Munthe-Kaas, H., Nøkleby, H., & Nguyen, L. (2019). Systematic mapping of checklists for assessing transferability. Syst Rev 8, 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-018-0893-4
- Musteen, M. (2016). Behavioral factors in offshoring decisions: A qualitative analysis.

 Journal of Business Research, 69(9), 3439-3446.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.01.042

- Mweru, Charity & Maina, Tirus. (2015). Features of Resource Based View Theory: An Effective Strategy in Outsourcing. International Journal of Management and Commerce Innovations. 3. 215-218.
- Mykhaylenko, A., Motika, Ã., Waehrens, B. V., & Slepniov, D. (2015). Accessing offshoring advantages: What and how to offshore. *Strategic Outsourcing: An International Journal*, 8, 262-283. https://doi.org/10.1108/SO-07-2015-0017
- Neuman, W. I. (2006). Social Research Methods (5th ed.) Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Nickerson, J. A., Wuebker, R., & Zenger, T. (2017). Problems, theories, and governing the crowd. *Strategic Organization*, *15*(2), 275-288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127016649943
- Niranjan, T. T., & Rao, S. S. (2011). A toolkit for balanced outsourcing. *Industrial Management*, *53*, 19-24. http://www.emeraldinsight.com
- Noor, K. (2008). Case study: A strategic research methodology. *American Journal of Applied Sciences*, 5(11), 1602-1604. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajassp.2008.1602.1604
- Ojha, A. K. (2014). Business process offshoring: Challenges in establishing enduring relationships between Canadian and Indian organizations. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 21(2), 123-150. http://www.sajm-amdisa.org/
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). 'Unsatisfactory saturation': A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 190-197. http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112446106

- Ormston, R., Spencer, L., Barnard, M., & Snape, D. (2014). The foundations of qualitative research. *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*, 1-26.
- Oshri, I., Kotlarsky, J., & Willcocks, L. P. (2015). *The Handbook of Global Outsourcing* and Offshoring 3rd Edition. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137437440
- Pablos, D. (2006). Transnational Corporations and Strategic Challenges: An Analysis of Knowledge Flows and Competitive Advantage. *The Learning Organization*, volume 14, pp. 544-559. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696470610705433
- Patil, S., & Wongsurawat, W. (2015). Information technology (IT) outsourcing by business process outsourcing/information technology enabled services (BPO/ITES) firms in India: A strategic gamble. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(1), 60-76. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-09-2013-0068
- Patrucco, A. S., Scalera, V. G., & Luzzini, D. (2016, July). Risks and governance modes in offshoring decisions: linking supply chain management and international business perspectives. In *Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal* (Vol. 17, No. 3, pp. 170-182). Taylor & Francis.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/16258312.2016.1219616
- Peralta, K. (2014). Outsourcing to China Cost U.S. 3.2 Million Jobs Since 2001. *U.S. News and World Report*. http://www.usnews.com.
- Peslak, A. R. (2012). Outsourcing and offshore outsourcing of information technology in major corporations. *Management Research Review*, *35*(1), 14-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171211190788

- Petkov, D., & Petkova, O. (2017). On Assessment of Risks in Offshore Outsourcing of Information Technology. *Journal of Information Systems Applied Research*, 10(2), 21.
- Pla-Barber, J., Linares, E., & Ghauri, P. N. (2018). The choice of offshoring operation mode: A behavioural perspective. *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.02.035
- Popli, M., Ladkani, R., & Gaur, A. S. (2017). Business group affiliation and post acquisition performance: An extended resource-based view. *Journal of Business Research*, 81, 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.08.003
- Porter, M. E. (1990). The competitive advantage of nations. *Harvard Business Review*, 68(2), 73-93. https://doi.org/10.1002/cir.3880010112
- Pouder, R. W., Cantrell, R., & Daly, J. P. (2011). The impact of outsourcing on firm value: New insights. *SAM Advanced Management Journal*, 76, 4-13. http://www.cob.tamucc.edu/sam
- Prahalad, C. K., & Hamel, G. (1990). The Core Competence of the Corporation. *Harvard Business Review*, 68, 275-292. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-30763-x_14
- Price, J. H., & Murnan, J. (2013). Research Limitations and the Necessity of Reporting

 Them, American Journal of Health Education, 35:2, 66-67.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2004.10603611
- Prowse, M., & Camfield, L. (2013). Improving the quality of development assistance:

 What role for qualitative methods in randomized experiments? *Progress in*Development Studies, 13(1), 51-61. https://doi.org/10.1177/146499341201300104

- Qi, C., & Chau, P. Y. (2015). Relationship or contract? Exploring the key factor leading to IT outsourcing success in China. *Information Technology & People*, 28, 466-499. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-10-2014-0236
- Raduan, C. R., & Abdullah, H. (2009). Management, Strategic Management Theories and the Linkage with Organizational Competitive Advantage from the Resource-Based View. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, volume 11, pp. 402-417.
- Raduan, C. R., Uli, J., Abdullah, H., & Ismail, A.I. (2009). A Conceptual Framework of the Relationship between Organizational Resources, Capabilities, Systems,
 Competitive Advantage and Performance. *Research Journal of International Studies*, October, No. 12, pp. 45-58. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v7n5p72
- Rahul, T., & Rao, U. H. (2015). Examining Risks with Outsourcing Decisions: A Case Study. *Journal of Services Research*, 15(1).
- Rajshekhar, J., Dixit, A., & Scherer, R. (2008). Outsourcing to emerging markets:

 Theoretical perspectives and policy implications. *Journal of International Management*, 15:2, 156-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2008.08.001
- Ramingwong, S., & Sajeev, A. (2009). Offshore outsourcing: The risk of keeping mum.

 Communications of the ACM, (50), 101-103.

 https://doi.org/10.1145/1278201.1278230
- Reilly, R. C. (2015). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation.

 *Qualitative Report, 18(30), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1534
- Rindfleisch, A. (2020). Transaction cost theory: past, present and future. *AMS Review*, 10(1), 85-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13162-019-00151-x

- Roberts, M. A. (2007). Dobbs, Lou: Exporting America: Why corporate greed is shipping American jobs overseas. Perspectives on Political Science, (3), 175.
- Robinson, M., & Kalakota, R. (2005). Offshore outsourcing: Business models, ROI and best practices. Alpharetta, GA: Mivar Press.
- Roh, S., & Jang, H. M. (2018). Strategic logistics outsourcing in humanitarian supply chain: a fuzzy AHP approach. https://doi.org/10.15735/kls.2018.26.4.007
- Rose, R. C., Abdullah, H., & Ismad, A. I. (2010). The Review on the Relationship between Organizational Resources, Competitive Advantage and Performance. *The Journal of International Social Research*, *3*(11), 488-498.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v7n5p72
- Rosebush, D., Leavell, H., & Maniam, B. (2012). Trends in outsourcing and its future. *Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge*, 18(1), 100-106.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data*. 3rd.

 Ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

 https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452226651
- Saumure, K., & Given, L. M. (2008). Data Saturation. *Sage Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909.n99
- Sausen, K., & Tomczak, T. (2015). The Resource-Based View as a Foundation for a Market Segmentation Theory: Development of Theoretical Constructs and a Conceptual Framework. In: Spotts H. (eds) Assessing the Different Roles of Marketing Theory and Practice in the Jaws of Economic Uncertainty.

- Developments in Marketing Science: Proceedings of the Academy of Marketing Science. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-11845-1_67
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research.* A guide for researchers in the education and social sciences. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Sharma, S. K., & Bhat, A. (2011). Risk identification and assessment in supply chain.

 *Asia Pacific Journal of Research in Business Management, 2(11), 1-2.

 http://indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx?target=ijor:apjrbm&type=home
- Siems, T. F. (2005). Who supplied my cheese? Supply chain management in the global economy. *Business Economics*, 40(4), 6-21. https://doi.org/10.2145/20050401
- Sigalas, C. (2015). Competitive advantage: the known unknown concept. *Management Decision*, (9), 2004. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2015-0185
- Silverman, D. (2015). *Interpreting qualitative data*. Sage.
- Simmons, L. L., Conlon, S., Mukhopadhyay, S., & Yang, J. (2011). A computer aided content analysis of online reviews. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 52, 43-55. http://iacis.org/jcis/index.htm
- Smith, G. E., Watson, K. J., Baker, W. H., & Pokorski, J. A. (2007). A critical balance: Collaboration and security in the IT-enabled supply chain. *International Journal of Production Research*, 45(11), 2595-2613. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540601020544
- Solli-Sæther, H., & Gottschalk, P. (2015). Stages-of-growth in outsourcing, offshoring and backsourcing: Back to the future? *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 55(2), 88-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2015.11645760

- Sreedevi, R., & Tanwar, T. (2018). Outsourcing: A Review for Research and Practical

 Applications. *International Journal of Business and Economic Research*, 7(1), 20
 24. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ijber.20180701.13
- Startienė, G., & Remeikienė, R. (2007). Methodology of business risk analysis and its practical application in the enterprises working in the global market. *Engineering Economics*, *3*(53), 7-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.887
- Stringfellow, A., Teagarden, M. B., & Nie, W. (2008). Invisible costs in offshoring services work. Journal of Operations Management, 26(2), 164-179.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2007.02.009
- Sundararajan, S., Bhasi, M., & Vijayaraghavan, P. K. (2014). Case study on risk management practice in large offshore-outsourced agile software projects. *IET Software*, 8(6), 245-257. https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-sen.2013.0190
- Talluri, S., Kull, T. J., Yildiz, H., & Yoon, J. (2013). Assessing the efficiency of risk mitigation strategies in supply chains. *Journal of Business Logistics*, *34*, 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12025
- Tang, C. S., & Zimmerman, J. (2013). Information and communication technology for managing supply chain risks. *Communications of the ACM*, 56(7), 27-29. https://doi.org/10.1145/2483852.2483862
- Tarí, J. J. (2011). Research into quality management and social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 102, 623-638. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-011-0833-x
- Tashman, P., & Rivera, J. (2016). Ecological uncertainty, adaptation, and mitigation in the US ski resort industry: Managing resource dependence and institutional

- pressures. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*(7), 1507-1525. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2384
- Tate, W. L., Ellram, L. M., Bals, L., & Hartmann, E. (2009). Offshore outsourcing of services: An evolutionary perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, (2). 512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2009.04.005
- Teo, T. S., & Bhattacherjee, A. (2014). Knowledge transfer and utilization in IT outsourcing partnerships: A preliminary model of antecedents and outcomes. Information & Management, 51(2), 177-186.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2013.12.001
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Trang, M. N. (2017). Compulsory corporate cyber-liability insurance: Outsourcing data privacy regulation to prevent and mitigate data breaches. *Minnesota Journal of Law, Science & Technology*, *18*, 389. Retrieved from https://scholarship.law.umn.edu/mjlst/
- Tsang, E. W. K. (2013). Generalizing from research findings: The merits of case studies.

 International Journal of Management Reviews, 16, 369-383.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12024
- Uprichard, E. (2013). Sampling: bridging probability and non-probability designs.

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 16(1), 1-11.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2011.633391

- van Hassel, E., Vanelslander, T., Neyens, K., Vandeborre, H., Kindt, D., & Kellens, S. (2021). Reconsidering nearshoring to avoid global crisis impacts: Application and calculation of the total cost of ownership for specific scenarios. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 101089. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2021.101089
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*, 21-54. https://doi.org/10.25300/misq/2013/37.1.02
- Virtaluoto, J., Sannino, A., & Engeström, Y. (2016). Surviving Outsourcing and Offshoring. *Journal of Business & Technical Communication*, 30(4), 495–532. https://doi.org/10.1177/1050651916651908
- Vorontsova, A., & Rusu, L. (2014). Determinants of IT Outsourcing Relationships: A

 Recipient Provider Perspective. *Procedia Technology*, 16, 588-597.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2014.10.007
- Walliman, N. (2015). *Social research methods: The essentials*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849209939
- Weng, F., & Hung, M. (2014). Competition and challenge on adopting cloud ERP.
 International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology, 5, 309-313.
 https://doi.org/10.7763/IJIMT.2014.V5.530
- Wiengarten, F., Humphreys, P., Gimenez, C., & McIvor, R. (2016). Risk, risk management practices, and the success of supply chain integration. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 171, 361-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.03.020

- Willcocks, L. P., Lacity, M. C., & Sauer, C. (2017). Introduction. In *Outsourcing and Offshoring Business Services*, 1-22. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52651-5_1
- Williams, C., & Durst, S. (2019). Exploring the transition phase in offshore outsourcing:

 Decision making amidst knowledge at risk. *Journal of Business Research*, 103,

 460-471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.013
- Wu, Y., Cegielski, C. G., Hazen, B. T., & Hall, D. J. (2013). Cloud computing in support of supply chain information system infrastructure: Understanding when to go to the cloud. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49(3), 25-41.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493x.2012.03287.x
- Wuyts, S., Rindfleisch, A., & Citrin, A. (2015). Outsourcing customer support: The role of provider customer focus. *Journal of Operations Management*, 35, 40-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2014.10.004
- Yang, S. O., Hsu, C., Sarker, S., & Lee, A. S. (2017). Enabling Effective Operational Risk Management in a Financial Institution: An Action Research Study. *Journal* of Management Information Systems, 34(3), 727-753. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2017.1373006
- Yap, Q. S., & Webber, J. K. (2015). Developing corporate culture in a training department. A qualitative case study of internal and outsourced staff. *Review of Business and Finance Studies*, 6, 43-56. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/rbfcs.htm

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2102
- Yao, T., Jiang, B., Young, S. T., & Talluri, S. (2010). Outsourcing timing, contract selection, and negotiation. *International Journal of Production Research*, 48, 305-326. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540903174858
- Yeo, C., & Saboori-Deilami, V. (2017). Strategic challenges of outsourcing innovation in global market. *Asia Pacific Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, (1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJIE-04-2017-017
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48, 311-325. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th Ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2015). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. Guilford Publications. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12144
- Zhang, L., & Gu, W. (2013). The simple analysis of impact on financial outsourcing because of the rising of cloud accounting. *Asian Journal of Business*Management, 5(1), 140-143. https://doi.org/10.19026/ajbm.5.5822

Appendix A: Invitation to Participate in Research Study

I am pleased to invite you to participate in a research study entitled Key Strategies Used to Mitigate Business Risk when Managing Offshore Outsourcing" to help determine what strategies do technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. For this study, you are invited to describe your knowledge and experience of managing risks when engaging in offshore outsourcing.

This invitation is part of the doctoral study for Lauren Stewart, a DBA student at Walden University.

About the study:

- One 30- to 60-minute telephone or video interview
- To protect your privacy, details about your identity will not be shared, nor will your personal information be used for purposes other than this study.

Volunteers must meet these requirements:

- 18 years old or older
- Possess a minimum of five years of experience directly relating to offshore outsourcing and risk management.
- The ability to identify the risk management strategies used when engaging in offshore outsourcing.

TO CONFIDENTIALY VOLUNTEER, PLEASE SEND AN EMAIL TO LAUREN.STEWART2@WALDENU.EDU TO EXPRESS YOUR INTEREST IN PARTICIPATING IN THE STUDY.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies have you used to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries?
- 2. What strategies did you use to assess your current internal resources before committing to outsourcing your IT services?
- 3. How does the strategies you use provide you with a competitive advantage?
- 4. What strategies do you use to recognize potential outsourcing risks?
- 5. How does your company address potential risks with foreign outsourcing vendors?
- 6. How does your company's business objectives align with minimizing risk when outsourcing to foreign countries?
- 7. What challenges have you experienced in outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 8. What risks have you experienced when competing for outsourcing services in foreign countries?
- 9. What strategies have you found effective in mitigating challenges from outsourcing services to foreign countries?
- 10. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to foreign countries?

Appendix C: Interview Protocols

The guiding research question for the study is as follows:

What strategies do technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries?

The following interview protocol contains the questions used to explore the central research question.

Interview Protocol	
Protocol Steps	Protocol Action
Introduction	Good morning or afternoon,
	I want to first thank you for taking the time to participate in this research study. The purpose of this qualitative study is to explore strategies that technology and telecommunications leaders use to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries. The outcome may produce an understanding of how leaders in the technology and telecommunications industries might use the findings to minimize risk while increasing revenue and profitability. As the researcher, I want to assure you that the information provided will be kept confidential, as indicated in your signed consent form.
	The qualitative research data are collected using interviews to understand the experiences and processes from the perception of the participant. These questions are presented in an open manner to encourage you to answer as openly as possible.
	The interview will last approximately 30 to 60 minutes with an additional 20 minutes at an established date to review the synthesized data captured during the initial interview.
	Before we proceed, are there any questions concerning the intent of this study or anything that I have stated?

Begin with Interview Questions	What strategies have you used to mitigate risks when outsourcing IT services to foreign countries? What strategies did you use to assess your current
	internal resources before committing to outsourcing your IT services?
	3. How do the strategies you use provide you with a competitive advantage?
	4. What strategies do you use to recognize potential outsourcing risks?
	5. How does your company address potential risks with foreign outsourcing vendors?
	6. How does your company's business objectives align with minimizing risk when outsourcing to foreign countries?
	7. What challenges have you experienced in outsourcing services to foreign countries?
	8. What risks have you experienced when competing for outsourcing services in foreign countries?
	9. What strategies have you found effective to mitigate challenges from outsourcing services to foreign countries?
	10. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to mitigate risks when outsourcing services to foreign countries?
	11. What other insights would you like to add regarding offshore outsourcing and risk management strategies associated with outsourcing?
Interview Wrap-up	This concludes the interview and I want to thank you again for your participation.
	Recording of interview is concluded.
Advise of member checking process	As a part of the member checking process, I will transcribe the interview and send it to you via the email address you provided. Please review the information in detail and provide me with any feedback that you may have. If any of the information in the transcribed document does not align with what was discussed, I will correct the information and return the document to you for additional review.
Answer additional questions	Do you have any additional questions relating to this interview?